## UNIVERSITY OF OKLAHOMA

## **GRADUATE COLLEGE**

# FEASIBILITY OF BLAST FURNACE SLAG FOR STABILIZING SULFATE-BEARING SOIL

### A THESIS

# SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE FACULTY

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

By

# DAIVY MANTILLA PRADA

Norman, Oklahoma

2023

# FEASIBILITY OF BLAST FURNACE SLAG FOR STABILIZING SULFATE-BEARING SOIL

# A THESIS APPROVED FOR THE

# SCHOOL OF CIVIL ENGINEERING AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE

BY THE COMMITTEE CONSISTING OF:

Dr. Gerald Miller, Chair

Dr. Zaman Musharraf

Dr. Hatami Kianoosh

© Copyright by Daivy Mantilla Prada 2023

All Rights Reserved.

#### Acknowledgments

First, I would like to express my gratitude to my parents, Esperanza, and Ricardo, and my Godmother Leonilde Diaz Bohorquez, for their support and belief in me throughout my academic journey. I am also very grateful to all my friends who have helped me in many ways during my graduate studies.

I would like to thank Dr. Gerald Miller for all his invaluable help and support not only during this research but also throughout my education in Geotechnical Engineering at the University of Oklahoma. I would also like to thank my graduate committee, Dr. Kianoosh Hatami and Dr. Musharraf Zaman, for their time and important feedback on my thesis. Finally, I would like to acknowledge the entire faculty and staff of the Civil Engineering department that had helped me during my entire graduate education.

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Literature Review	3
2.1 Soil Composition	3
2.1.1 Clay Minerals	3
2.1.2 Sand Minerals	6
2.1.3 Sulfate-bearing Soils	6
2.2 Soil Stabilization	7
2.2.1 Lime	7
2.2.2 Portland Cement	9
2.2.3 Ground Granulated Blast Furnace Slag	10
Chapter 3: Hypotheses and Objectives	11
3.1 Hypotheses	11
3.2 Goals and Objectives	11
Chapter 4: Materials and Methods	13
4.1 Materials	13
4.2 Test Methods	13
4.2.1 Compaction Testing	16
4.2.2 Unconfined Compression Test (UCT)	17
4.2.3 Response to Wetting Test	18
4.2.4 Grain Size Distribution	20
4.2.5 Atterberg Limits	21
4.2.6 pH Testing	22
4.2.7 Bar Linear Shrinkage	23
4.2.8 Scanning Electron Microscopy	24
4.2.9 Whole-Rock X-Ray Fluorescence	25
Chapter 5: Test Results and Discussion	26
5.1 Compaction Testing	26
5.2 Unconfined Compression Test (UCT)	28
5.2.1 Test Soils Untreated and Treated with GGBFS	28
5.2.2 Test Soils Treated with Lime	31
5.2.3 Test Soils Treated with GGBFS and Lime, GGBFS and Portland Cement, and GGBF and Sodium Carbonate	FS 33
5.3 Response to Wetting Test	37
5.4 Atterberg Limits	41

# **Table of Contents**

5.5 pH Testing	43
5.6 Bar Linear Shrinkage	47
5.7 Scanning Electron Microscopy	52
5.8 Whole-Rock X-Ray Fluorescence Testing	55
Chapter 6: Conclusions and Recommendations	57
6.1 Conclusions	57
6.2 Recommendations and Future Investigations	59
Bibliography	61
Appendix	65

# a. List of Figures

Figure 1. Diffuse double layer in a clay-water system (after Holtz, Kovacs, & Sheahan 2011) 6
Figure 2. Harvard miniature apparatus 17
Figure 3. Compression testing machine (left) and test specimen after failure (right) 18
Figure 4. Oedometer ring and loading frame
Figure 5. Oven-dried specimens for the bar linear shrinkage
Figure 6. Test Soil 1 untreated (left) and treated (right) with 8% GGBFS 25
Figure 7. Compaction curves for Test Soil 1
Figure 8. Compaction curves for Test Soil 2
Figure 9. Unconfined compression strength vs. water content for Test Soil 1 29
Figure 10. Unconfined compression strength vs. water content for Test Soil 2 30
Figure 11. Comparison of UCS of soaked and unsoaked specimens treated with 8% GGBFS for
Test Soil 2
Figure 12. Comparison of UCS for soaked and unsoaked specimens for Test Soil 1 treated with
8% GGBFS or 4% lime
Figure 13. Comparison of UCS for soaked and unsoaked specimens for Test Soil 2 treated with
GGBFS or 6% lime
Figure 14. Unconfined compression strength for treated and untreated Test Soil 1 specimens 35
Figure 15. Unconfined compression strength for treated and untreated Test Soil 2 specimens 37
Figure 16. Vertical swell versus elapsed time from response to wetting tests on Test Soil 1 with
and without chemical treatment
Figure 17. Vertical swell versus elapsed time from response to wetting tests on Test Soil 2 with
and without chemical treatment
Figure 18. pH of Test Soil 1 with and without any treatments and chemical additives used 44
Figure 19. pH of Test Soil 2 with and without any treatments and chemical additives used 45
Figure 20. Changes in pH and Atterberg Limits (with no curing) for Test Soil 1 using different
additives
Figure 21. Changes in pH and Atterberg Limits (with no curing) for Test Soil 2 using different
additives
Figure 22. Linear Shrinkage and Shrinkage Limit for Test Soil 1 with and without using
chemical additives
Figure 23. Linear Shrinkage and Shrinkage Limit for Test Soil 2 with and without using

chemical additives
Figure 24. Changes in pH, SL, and LS for Test Soil 1 with and without using chemical additives.
Figure 25. Changes in pH, SL, and LS for Test Soil 2 with and without using chemical additives.
Figure 26. SEM photographs a) CBS mode, untreated Test Soil 1, and b) CBS mode, Test Soil 1
treated with 8% GGBFS
Figure 27. SEM photographs a) CBS mode, untreated Test Soil 2, and b) CBS mode, Test Soil 2
treated with 8% GGBFS
b. List of Tables
Table 1 Chemical constituents of Kaolinite (Material Property Data 2023)

Table 1. Chemical constituents of Kaolinite (Material Property Data 2023).	13
Table 2. Testing Matrix. *Each grid value corresponds to the total conducted tests	15
Table 3. Grain size distribution values for Test Soil 1 and 2	21
Table 4. Atterberg Limits for Test Soil 1 and Test Soil 2	22
Table 5. Atterberg Limits results for Test Soil 1.	42
Table 6. Atterberg Limits results for Test Soil 2.	42
Table 7. Chemical constituents of GGBFS	56
Table 8. Elemental sulfur content and calculated equivalent sulfate content for test materials	
(Miller & Prada 2022).	56

#### Abstract

Calcium-based stabilizers are frequently used by The Oklahoma Department of Transportation (ODOT) to enhance the strength and reduce the swelling potential of fine-grained soils. However, these stabilizers can lead to adverse reactions in high sulfate-bearing soils which are very common in Oklahoma. This study aimed to explore the efficacy of Ground Granulated Blast Furnace Slag (GGBFS) as an additive for high sulfate-bearing soils, by comparing the performance of GGBFS with other stabilizers like lime and Portland cement. In this research, the primary evaluation tests were the unconfined compression test (UCT), to evaluate the strength gained from the addition of the stabilizer, and the response to wetting test to study swelling behavior. Two test soils were manufactured that contained approximately 20,000 ppm of sulfate in the form of ground gypsum. In addition to the gypsum, Test Soil 1 was made with equal amounts of fine sand and kaolinite and Test Soil 2 with equal amounts of fine sand and montmorillonite.

The results indicate that adding between 6% and 12% GGBFS by dry weight of soil significantly increased the unconfined compressive strength (UCS), and the optimum amount of GGBFS was 8% by dry weight of soil for both test soils. With the addition of the 8% GGBFS, the UCS of Test Soil 1 and Test Soil 2 increased on average by 40 psi and 50 psi, respectively. These values are close to the 50 psi increase desired for chemical stabilizers according to ODOT requirements in OHD L-50. Additionally, when GGBFS was combined with a small amount of either lime (0.5% or 1%) or PC (1% or 3%), a significant increase in the UCS was observed compared to untreated samples or the ones only treated with one additive. The introduction of 1% lime and 7% GGBFS increased the UCS around 200 psi for Test Soil 1 and 94 psi for Test Soil 2. The combination of 3% PC and 7% exhibited the highest UCS increase, reaching 300 psi for Test Soil 1 and 140 psi for Test Soil 2.

The incorporation of GGBFS was observed to decrease the swelling behavior in both test soils during a response-to-wetting test lasting approximately 15 days. The addition of 8% GGBFS decreased the vertical swell from 3.3% to 1.9% for Test Soil 1 and from 5.2% to 0.3% for Test Soil 2. Most notably, both soils exhibited no apparent swelling after the first day of the test, which is in contrast to all other tests containing lime, PC or GGBFS mixed with lime or PC. When lime or PC was used alone or in combination with GGBFS, swelling continued throughout the testing period. In some cases for Test Soil 1, the final amount of swelling exceeded that of the test soil alone, which is a clear indication of adverse reactions occurring due to addition of lime or PC. That the GGBFS completely halted the swelling behavior while all the mixes containing lime or PC continued to swell at the end of the nearly 15-day tests is an important finding. It suggests that adverse reactions may not be avoidable even with small amounts of PC or lime mixed with GGBFS.

The addition of GGBFS to the test soils had a minimal impact on the Liquid Limit, Plastic Limit, and Plasticity Index of the test soils. However, for both test soils the Shrinkage Limit was significantly reduced with the addition of 8% GGBFS. For Test Soil 1 and Test Soil 2, respectively, the SL reduced from about 9.5% and 18% for the untreated soil to about 1.5% and 6% for the treated soil.

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

The use of GGBFS as a soil additive has demonstrated its potential to mitigate the swelling behavior of expansive soils (Wild et al. 1996 & Yadu & Tripathi 2013). Given that GGBFS is primarily composed of silicates, there is a potential to utilize it as a chemical additive for expansive soils with high sulfate content; thereby advoiding adverse reactions with calcium-based stabilizers like lime that can lead to the formation of expansive minerals such as ettringite. The use of GGBFS to stabilize expansive soils containing a high sulfate content was the focus of the experimental research described in this thesis.

Civil engineering faces a significant challenge with expansive clay soils due to their high volumetric changes caused by fluctuations in moisture content. Such changes can damage structures and foundations, jeopardizing the safety of individuals and leading to costly repairs (e.g. Marcus 2017). There are multiple ways to deal with these types of soils, including removal and replacement or moisture control or chemical soil stabilization, which is one of the most common methods, mainly employing calcium-based stabilizers like lime. However, when the expansive clay has a high sulfate content, it can lead to more significant problems when using these additives because their reaction to sulfate and water creates highly expansive crystals known as Ettringite. In Oklahoma, calcium-based additives are not recommended when the sulfate content exceeds 8000 ppm (Oklahoma Department of Transportation 2021). Consequently, it becomes imperative to conduct further investigations and explore novel additives suitable for addressing these specific soil conditions.

Ground Granulated Blast Furnace Slag (GGBFS) is a residue obtained from melting iron in a blast furnace. After being separated from iron, it is ground into a powder composed mainly of calcium-alumina-silicates. Disposing of GGBFS residues is costly and has environmental

1

implications, so researchers have investigated ways to repurpose them in construction. After much investigation, researchers found that GGBFS can be used for soil stabilization, with some results showing improvement in unconfined strength and reduced swelling in fine-grained soils (Yadu & Tripathi 2013). This research aimed to analyze the performance of different concentrations of GGBFS in fine-grained clay soils with a high swelling behavior and containing significant sulfate. This study primarily focused on evaluating volume change behavior and unconfined compressive strength of the soils before and after adding GGBFS. Other physical and index properties were also determined for untreated and treated test soils. Furthermore, the efficacy of GGBFS was compared with mixes containing well-known stabilizers like Lime and Portland Cement; and combinations of GGBFS with these stabilizers were utilized to analyze possible synergistic effects on strength and swelling behavior of the test soils.

#### **Chapter 2: Literature Review**

#### 2.1 Soil Composition

Soils are defined as a loose agglomeration of different mineral and organic materials over the bedrock (Holtz et al. 2011). Soils are formed when rocks are broken down into smaller pieces through physical or chemical processes, forming different soils with different properties. According to Holtz et al. (2011), soils are a particulate material with voids, and those voids can be filled with water and air, causing some chemical and physical interactions between the fluid and the particles themselves, which makes their behavior difficult to study. Soil characteristics depend on the geological environment that formed them, making the characteristics from one soil to another highly variable. They also have a "memory," that is, their behavior depends on the stresses and other processes they experienced in the past, which also changes their properties.

Soils are usually classified into coarse-grained soils like gravels or sands and fine-grained soils like clays and silts. Coarse-grained soils are not significantly affected by the presence of water, which is why they can be classified only according to their grain size and grain size distribution. On the other hand, fine-grained soils are greatly affected by the presence of water, so they are primarily classified on the basis of their plasticity behavior.

The two most commonly used soil classification systems are the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (ASSHTO) Soil Classification System and the Unified Soil Classification System. These systems consider that the percentage of essential components in the soil can influence their properties. For example, gravel with some percentage of clay will not behave the same way as gravel without clay (Holtz et al. 2011).

#### 2.1.1 Clay Minerals

Clay minerals result from rock alteration under low temperatures and pressures, changing

their original mineralogy and texture. Water plays a crucial role in this process, so most clay minerals are described as hydrous aluminum silicates, belonging to a mineral class called phyllosilicates (Hillier 1995). Typically, clay minerals have nominal particle diameters of less than 2 µm and consist of cation planes arranged in sheet-like structures with repeating atomic patterns. The stacking arrangement of these sheets, whether tetrahedrally or octahedrally coordinated with oxygen atoms, defines the different clay minerals. 1:1 minerals are composed of one tetrahedral sheet and one octahedral sheet in repetitive layers, while 2:1 minerals have two tetrahedral sheets with an octahedral sheet sandwiched in between. For this study, two distinct clay minerals are employed: Kaolinite, which belongs to the 1:1 mineral group, and Montmorillonite, also known as Bentonite, a well-known member of the 2:1 mineral group. Soils with high clay mineral content without and with sand are called clay, silty or sandy clay, clay loam, and silty or sandy clay loam (Holtz 1969).

The behavior of clay soils in the presence of water is significantly influenced by clay mineralogy and structure. Krohn and Slosson (1980) calculated that the damage caused by expansive soils was about \$7 billion annually in the US. According to Veith (2000), two mechanisms are involved in swelling in a clay-water interaction: interlayer swelling and water imbibition of minerals with expandable structures.

A clay mineral has three fundamental components: a tetrahedral or silica sheet, an octahedral or alumina sheet, and a water layer. The water molecules are held to the clay crystal through hydrogen bonding, and the negatively charged clay crystal surfaces attract cations in the water. In the presence of water, interlayer swelling occurs when the interlayer cations attract water molecules, separating clay layers and causing swelling (Veith 2000, Holtz 1969). Different clays have different tendencies to attract exchangeable cations. For example, Holtz (1969) explains that

calcium and magnesium are the primary exchangeable cations in most soils, except for soils of marine origin. On the other hand, aluminum and hydrogen are commonly found in acidic soils.

The other phenomenon involves the interaction between water and the surface of clay minerals. Water, a dipolar molecule with positive and negative charge centers, is electrostatically attracted to the clay crystal surface. This attraction is facilitated by hydrogen bonding, where the hydrogen atoms in water interact with the oxygen atoms on the clay surface. According to Veith (2000), this attraction is diminished with distance and has a thickness of approximately 5 to 10 molecules. Close to the surface of the clay particle, cations in the adsorbed water are held in position by electrostatic forces. Meanwhile, other cations diffuse away from the surface, seeking to balance out the cation concentrations, yet still influenced by the electrical attraction to the negatively charged clay crystal surface. These two components form together a surface known as the diffuse double layer or diffuse electrical double layer (DDL) (Figure 1). Although the water adsorbed is approximately the same, the size of the clay particle is different. Montmorillonite size particles are smaller than Kaolinite particles, which is why they tend to absorb more water and possess much greater activity and volume changes (Holtz 1969).



Figure 1. Diffuse double layer in a clay-water system (after Holtz, Kovacs, & Sheahan 2011).**2.1.2 Sand Minerals** 

Sand consists of tiny rock grains and granular materials that are finer than gravel (particles less than 4.75 mm) but coarser than silt and clay (particles larger than 0.075 mm) (WSDOT Geotechnical Design Manual 2013). It is mainly made of silicate materials and silicate rock granular particles. The prevailing mineral in most sands is quartz, although additional minerals like tourmaline, zircon, and feldspar can also be present. When soil contains more than 85% sand-sized particles by mass it is called sandy soil. Sandy soils are highly permeable, cohesionless, and possess low shear strength under low confining stress (eg. Al-Saray, Shafiqu, & Ibrahim 2021).

#### 2.1.3 Sulfate-bearing Soils

Sulfate-bearing soils are found all across the United States. In western Oklahoma, sulfate is commonly found in soils and shale as gypsum (CaSO<sub>4</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O) (Adams, Dukes, Tabet, Cerato, & Miller 2008). Most of these soils are expansive, which is why they need to be treated with

chemicals to reduce their volumetric changes in a process called soil stabilization. However, since the last century, it has been widely known that these sulfate-bearing soils can expand even more when treated with traditional calcium-based stabilizers, such as lime. When these stabilizers are added to the soil, the chemical reactions between the soluble sulfate with calcium from the additive and alumina from the clay produce an expansive mineral called ettringite (e.g. Al-Dakheeli et al. 2021). Al-Dakheeli et al. (2021) reported many sulfate-induced heave cases in Nevada, Texas, Kansas, and Utah. In 2004, sulfate-induced heave affected several miles of Oklahoma Highway 412, costing millions in repairs (Cerato et al. 2011).

#### 2.2 Soil Stabilization

According to Holtz et al. (2011), clay soils are composed primarily of clay minerals, and their behavior is heavily influenced by the presence of water. Some of these clay soils can significantly change their volume depending on the change in water content. This problem in engineering is usually mitigated with soil stabilization, where some additives are added to the soil that controls the expansive behavior. Calcium-based stabilizers, such as lime or cement, are the most common treatment for this type of soil because they can improve the soil properties while controlling the volume change. However, soils with high content of sulfates can lead to more significant swelling problems when lime reacts with the sulfate and water in the soil, forming an expansive mineral known as ettringite (e.g. Puppala, Intharasombat, & Vempati 2005). According to the Oklahoma Department of Transportation, there are currently no recommendations for additives for clayey soils when the sulfate content is more significant than 8000 parts per million (Oklahoma Department of Transportation 2021).

#### 2.2.1 Lime

Lime (CaO) is derived from limestone, a sedimentary rock composed of calcite and

aragonite, which are crystal forms of calcium carbonate (CaCO<sub>3</sub>). Over thousands to millions of years, sedimentary deposits react with water containing dissolved calcium and are subjected to compression under other sediments, eventually forming limestone. Limestone may also contain magnesium carbonate (dolomite) along with minor amounts of clay, iron carbonate, feldspar, pyrite, quartz, and fossils of marine organisms like corals and clams (e.g. University of Kansas 2010 & Encyclopedia Britannica 2023). To produce lime, high-quality limestone deposits are subjected to extreme heat for several hours, above 825° C, changing the rock's calcium carbonate (CaCO<sub>3</sub>) into calcium oxide (CaO). This inorganic material is commonly known as "quicklime." Additionally, by quenching quicklime with water, we obtain calcium hydroxide (Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub>), also called "hydrated lime" (e.g. Madhu 2018).

Lime is widely used in environmental, metallurgical, industrial, and construction applications. In civil engineering, for example, hydrated lime can be used as an additive for road surfacing, increasing the resistance of the asphalt to water stripping. It is also mixed with cement to create concrete blocks, mortar, and "limecrete," which increases the properties of the mix and gives a higher resistance to chemical attacks, such as sulfur and sulfate (e.g. Tsivilis et al. 2000 & Chang et al. 2005). It is also used in soil stabilization, modifying almost all fine-grained soils. The chemical reaction between the lime and the soil affects the short and long-term soil behavior. According to Eades and Grim (1960), lime addition triggers three primary chemical reactions in the initial hours: cation exchange, flocculation-agglomeration, and carbonation.

The calcium cations produced by adding lime attract the clay minerals, reducing the repulsion forces and the thickness of the DDL. Consequently, this alteration results in the clumping of clay particles, leading to a change in soil texture, a phenomenon termed flocculation-agglomeration (e.g. Jawad, I., Taha, Majeed, & Khan 2014). On the other hand, lime can also

react with atmospheric carbon dioxide, which forms an insoluble carbonate (National Research Council (U.S.) 1987). This chemical process, called carbonation, is generally undesirable due to its potential to compromise the mechanical properties of the treated soil (e.g. Bagonza, Peete, Freer-Hewish, & Newill 1987).

According to Jawad et al. (2014), solubilization of the silica and alumina within the soil occurs due to the pH increase, causing pozzolanic reactions that form Calcium Silicate Hydrates (C-S-H) and Calcium Aluminate Hydrates (C-A-H). These cementitious compounds are time and temperature-dependent, requiring years for full development. The benefits of adding lime to the soil are usually a plasticity reduction, less water absorption, reduced volumetric changes in the presence of water, and increased strength (National Lime Association 2013).

#### **2.2.2 Portland Cement**

Portland cement is obtained by a precise combination of raw materials, primarily limestone, along with clay or shale, and a series of chemical reactions. The mixture is usually pulverized and heated in a rotary kiln at a high temperature, often exceeding 1450°C (2642°F), transforming the materials into gray nodules called clinker. The clinker contains compounds like tricalcium silicate (SiO<sub>2</sub>.3CaO), dicalcium silicate (SiO<sub>2</sub>.2CaO), tricalcium aluminate (Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>.3CaO), and tetra-calcium ferro-aluminate (4CaO.Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>.Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>). After grinding, the clinker is blended with a measured quantity of calcium sulfate, typically gypsum, resulting in the creation of Portland cement (Spencer 2018).

Portland cement (PC) is widely used in expansive soil stabilization (e.g. Yi et al. 2014, Mehedi et al. 2018). This process is similar to adding lime in that it increases pH and forms cementitious compounds C-S-H, C-A-H, and C-A-S-H leading to increases in the soil strength. The difference from lime is that PC is intrinsically cementitious whereas lime promotes pozzolanic reactions when mixed with soil and water, which leads to cement formation over time.

#### 2.2.3 Ground Granulated Blast Furnace Slag

Blast furnace slag is a waste material obtained during the process of melting iron in a blast furnace. It is called Ground Granulated Blast Furnace Slag (GGBFS) when it is turned into powder. It consists of mostly silicates or aluminum-silicates, and it has latent hydraulic properties, which is why it is used with Portland cement to enhance its properties (e.g. Ouf 2001). GGBFS is used with Portland cement to increase the cement's durability and create high chemical resistance to sulfates and chloride penetration due to the components from the GGBFS. This mix is based on the activation of the hydraulic properties of GGBFS with the alkalis released during the hydration process of Portland cement (e.g. Wild et al. 1996).

GGBFS is widely known for its use with Portland Cement in recent years, but its use in soil stabilization is still a matter of study. In soils with high sulfate content, soil stabilization using a common additive like lime can lead to serious swelling problems, where lime reacts with the sulfated clay and water to form crystals like ettringite and thaumasite (e.g. Wild et al. 1996). According to Wild et al. (1996), adding GGBFS to soil composed of lime, kaolin, and gypsum reduced the swelling behavior without any notable change in the compression strength of the soil. Wild et al. (1996) also noted that, by adding GGBFS, there is a reduction in both the plastic and liquid limit. It is reported that replacing lime with GGBFS can improve the strength of the soil by 60% to 80% (Ouf 2001). Ouf (2001) points out, "The main advantages of using both lime and GGBFS relative to using lime only are a slower early rate of strength development giving more time to finish the construction and an increase in long-term strength which improves the performance."

Some other studies found that GGBFS stabilizers produced high unconfined compressive

strength (UCS), high Optimum Dry Density (ODD), and less Optimum Water Content (OWC) in soft soils, finding that the optimum amount of GGBFS for the soil in the study was 9%. (Yadu & Tripathi 2013).

#### **Chapter 3: Hypotheses and Objectives**

#### **3.1 Hypotheses**

- 1. By incorporating various concentrations of GGBFS into the two prepared soils, namely one consisting of kaolinite, sand, and gypsum and the other comprising montmorillonite, sand, and gypsum, the anticipated outcomes included a decrease in swelling behavior, a reduction in the Plasticity Index (PI), and a potential improvement in unconfined compressive strength.
- 2. Adding GGBFS with small amounts of lime or Portland cement into the manufactured soils previously mentioned was projected to reduce the swelling behavior and improve unconfined compressive strength effectively.

#### **3.2 Goals and Objectives**

The goals of this research were:

- To investigate the improvement of unconfined compressive strength (UCS) through the incorporation of GGBFS with or without small amounts of lime or Portland cement in two different test soils with high sulfate contents.
- 2. Assess the efficacy of GGBFS with or without small amounts of lime or Portland cement in mitigating the swelling behavior of two different test soils with high sulfate contents.

The objectives of this research were:

1. To evaluate the compaction characteristics of test soils with and without GGBFS.

- 2. Study the enhancement in unconfined compressive strength (UCS) by incorporating different concentrations of GGBFS into two manufactured test soils. The first soil composition included kaolinite, sand, and gypsum, while the second soil composition comprised montmorillonite, sand, and gypsum. Both test soils contained approximately 20,000 ppm of sulfate in the form of gypsum.
- 3. Measure and compare the changes in Atterberg limits between test soils treated with GGBFS and untreated soils.
- 4. Assess and compare the variation in pH levels between test soils treated with GGBFS and untreated soils.
- 5. Evaluate and quantify the swelling behavior of both GGBFS-treated and untreated test soils.
- 6. Analyze the chemical and mineralogical properties of the test soils with and without GGBFS.
- 7. Compare the performance of GGBFS-treated soils with those treated using hydrated lime or Portland cement.
- Investigate the performance of GGBFS-treated soils containing small amounts of lime or Portland cement.

#### **Chapter 4: Materials and Methods**

#### 4.1 Materials

Two different clay minerals: kaolinite and montmorillonite, were selected for this study. For Test Soil 1, a dry mixture consisting of 50% kaolinite, 50% fine sand, and approximately 4% gypsum was prepared. This gypsum content equates to about 20,000 ppm of sulfate. The kaolinite was obtained from the Old Hickory Clay Company, and it is referred to as Old Hickory No. 1 Glaze. The chemical components of Kaolinite are shown in Table 1 (Sheffield Pottery 2023), which comprises approximately 71% kaolinite, 22% quartz, 4% feldspar, and trace amounts of other minerals.

Chemical Constituent	Percent by Weight
CaO	0.10%
K <sub>2</sub> O	0.30%
MgO	0.30%
Na <sub>2</sub> O	0.10%
TiO <sub>2</sub>	2.40%
Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	29.40%
$SiO_2$	56.30%
Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	0.90%
Loss on Ignition	9.90%
Total	99.70%
Kaolinite Al <sub>2</sub> Si <sub>2</sub> OH <sub>5</sub> (OH) <sub>4</sub>	70.8%

Table 1. Chemical constituents of Kaolinite (Material Property Data 2023).

Test Soil 2 shared similarities with Test Soil 1, except for substituting kaolinite with montmorillonite. Montmorillonite, also known as Bentonite, was obtained from Bulk Apothecary, and its chemical components are 95-100% Bentonite, less than 2% percent silica, and trace amounts of other minerals (Bulk Apothecary 2019).

#### **4.2 Test Methods**

There are presently no specified recommendations for additives in clayey soils with sulfate

content exceeding 8000 parts per million (Oklahoma Department of Transportation 2021). In this study, the test soils contained high sulfate levels, approximately 20,000 ppm, aiming to assess the effectiveness of GGBFS treatment. Soil properties with and without treatment were investigated using laboratory testing, complemented by compositional analysis using devices such as an electron microscope and XRF analyzer. Laboratory testing consisted of compaction testing, unconfined compression tests (UCTs), Atterberg limit tests, response to wetting test, pH test, bar linear shrinkage, scanning electron microscopy, and whole-rock X-ray fluorescence. The test matrix for this investigation is shown in Table 2.

	Compaction Testing and calibration with Harvard Miniature Apparatus	Unconfined compression test (UCT)	Response to wetting test	Grain Size Distribution	Atterberg Limits	pH Test	Bar Linear Shrinkage	Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)	Whole-Rock X-Ray Fluorescence
Test Method, Purpose, and ASTM Standard	Optimum moisture content (OMC) and maximum dry density (MDD)	Unconfined compressive strength (UCS)	Volumetric change upon wetting	Soil classification	Liquid Limit (LL), plastic limit (PL), and plasticity index (PI)	рН	Linear shrinkage (LS)	Surface morphology and composition of materials	Elemental composition of materials
	ASTM D698 and ASTM D4609	ASTM D2166	ASTM D4546	ASTM D6913 & D7928	ASTM D4318	ASTM D4972	BS 1377		
Test Soil 1 (TS1)	12*	4	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Test Soil 2 (TS2)	12	4	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
TS1 + GGBFS		12	1		3	1	1	3	1
TS2 + GGBFS		12	1		3	1	1	3	1
TS1 + GGBFS & Lime		12	2		2	2	1		
TS2 + GGBFS & Lime		12	2		2	2	1		
TS1 + GGBFS & PC		9	2		1	1	1		
TS2 + GGBFS & PC		9	2		1	1	1		
TS1 + Lime		3	1			1	1		
TS2 + Lime		3	1			1	1		
TS1 + PC TS2 + PC		3	1			1	1		

Table 2. Testing Matrix. \*Each grid value corresponds to the total conducted tests.

GGBFS-treated soils were prepared at different concentrations: 6%, 8%, and 12%. Upon determining the optimal GGBFS concentration, soil specimens subjected to GGBFS and lime treatment utilized 90% of the optimal GGBFS concentration along with two lime concentrations: 0.5% and 1%. In the case of specimens treated with GGBFS and PC, 90% of the established optimal GGBFS concentration was combined with two PC concentrations: 1% and 3%. The

optimal concentration was applied following the OHD L-50 (ODOT 2022) standard for soil stabilization. A fixed concentration of 3% was employed for specimens treated exclusively with PC.

#### 4.2.1 Compaction Testing

Following ASTM Standard D698, standard compaction tests were conducted. This test aims to determine the maximum dry density and optimum moisture content of soil material for a standard compaction effort. Test soils were mixed to achieve the desired water content and compacted in a 4-inch diameter mold using three layers, each subjected to 25 blows from a standard 5.5 lb. rammer. After compaction, the specimens were weighed, and the bulk density and moisture content were determined. A compaction curve was obtained by plotting dry density against moisture content, where the maximum dry density and optimum moisture content were determined. Additionally, the Harvard miniature apparatus (Figure 2), which consists of a miniature mold of about 1.3 inches in diameter and a height of 2.9 inches, and a small drop hammer with a weight of 0.55 lb., was calibrated against the outcomes of Proctor compaction tests. After determining the optimal number of hammer drops necessary to achieve comparable densities to Proctor tests at the optimum moisture content, specimens were prepared for unconfined compression tests (UCT). This calibration process has been described in other research papers and reports (Hussey et al. 2010, Miller & Cerato 2011).



Figure 2. Harvard miniature apparatus.

### 4.2.2 Unconfined Compression Test (UCT)

The UCT is used to determine the unconfined compression strength of a cohesive soil specimen. The compaction of specimens occurred in a Harvard miniature mold with three lifts and a small drop hammer. The specimens were wrapped in cellophane and placed in a moisture room for 7 days after compaction. Specimens were prepared using three different concentrations of GGBFS: 6%, 8%, and 12%. For each mix, 3 nominally identical specimens were prepared. After curing, UCT specimens were tested in a soil compression testing machine following the protocol stipulated in ASTM D2166. A strain rate of 1% per minute was applied during the shearing process. Throughout shearing, the axial load on the specimen was recorded using an electronic load cell with a resolution of 1 lbf., the axial deformation was captured using a dial gauge with a resolution of 0.001 inches. The shearing process continued until failure was evident, indicated by a continuous drop in axial load (Figure 3). The unconfined compressive strength (UCS) is

calculated by dividing the maximum axial load at failure by the cross-sectional area of the specimen.



Figure 3. Compression testing machine (left) and test specimen after failure (right).

Once the optimal concentration of GGBFS was determined, 3 additional specimens were created using the same procedure with a curing time of 5 days. Subsequently, they were soaked in water for 2 days and tested to enable a comparison of strength differences between unsoaked and soaked specimens to assess durability. Hydrated lime was also employed to compare the outcomes of GGBFS with a traditional stabilizer for the curing periods, with and without soaking. Furthermore, additional specimens were tested with combinations of GGBFS and hydrated lime and GGBFS and Portland cement, with curing periods with and without soaking.

#### **4.2.3 Response to Wetting Test**

The response to wetting test, also known as the swelling potential test, is a laboratory test conducted on cohesive soils to assess their potential for volume change upon wetting. It was conducted following ASTM Standard D4546. Soils treated with GGBFS were prepared using optimal concentrations. For specimens treated with both GGBFS and lime or PC, 90% of the optimal GGBFS concentration was combined with two different concentrations: 0.5% and 1% for Lime and 1% and 3% for PC.

Test specimens were prepared by dry mixing the Test Soil and additives, adding water, usually 1% above the optimum moisture content, and compacting the soil to the desired density and moisture content in oedometer rings in two layers. These specimens were then placed in the oedometer loading frame (Figure 4), and a seating load was applied to the weight hanger, with the dial gauge used to measure vertical deformations zeroed accordingly. The dial gauge used had a resolution of 0.0001 inches.



Figure 4. Oedometer ring and loading frame.

Once the dial gauge was zeroed, a load was applied to the weight hanger to create a vertical stress of 250 psf on the specimen. This stress level corresponds to the total overburden pressure typically experienced at a depth of 1.5 to 2 feet below the top of a pavement. After allowing the specimen to reach equilibrium under the applied load, water was added to the top of the oedometer

ring to saturate the soil specimen. During this process, dial readings were recorded at intervals over extended periods, usually lasting around 10,000 hours or more.

#### 4.2.4 Grain Size Distribution

The grain size distribution method is a laboratory test used to determine the proportion of different-sized particles in a soil specimen. The process involves two components: Sieve analysis and hydrometer test.

Sieve analysis was realized according to ASTM D6913 by passing the material through a series of sieves with varying mesh sizes stacked in order of decreasing mesh size, with the largest sieve at the top. Then, the sieves were hand shaken to separate the soil particles based on size. After shaking, the soil retained on each sieve was removed and weighed. The percentage of soil passing through each sieve is calculated by subtracting the percentage retained on that sieve from 100%. The results are used to create a grain size distribution curve, known as the sieve analysis curve. This method was useful in determining the percentage of sand in the Test Soils.

For particles with a grain diameter of less than 2 mm, the size of a number 10 sieve, hydrometer analysis was conducted per ASTM D7928. The soil specimen was dispersed in water to create a suspension. A hydrometer, a device that measures the density of the suspension, was submerged, and density readings were recorded at specific intervals. These data were used to calculate the percentage of soil particles passing through different particle sizes, constructing the hydrometer analysis curve. Finally, the outcomes from the sieve analysis and hydrometer test are combined to form a comprehensive grain size distribution curve, providing a more detailed representation of the soil's grain size distribution. The respective tabulated values for Test Soil 1 and 2 can be found in Table 3. In both cases, the soils completely passed through the No. 40 (0.425 mm) sieve, with roughly 50% passing through the No. 200 (0.075 mm) sieve. This outcome was

expected since both soils contained 50% fine sand. The grains size distribution curve for Test Soil 1 shows that the portion passing through the No. 200 sieve is composed of clay-sized particles with about 36% finer than 0.002 mm. For Test Soil 2, the portion passing the No. 200 sieve is composed of approximately 42% particles finer than 0.002 mm.

	Test Soil 1		Test Soil 2		
Sieves	D(mm)	% passing	D(mm)	% passing	
4	4.750	100.00	4.750	100.00	
10	2.000	100.00	2.000	100.00	
40	0.425	100.00	0.425	100.0	
200	0.075	54.52	0.075	50.5	
	0.060	54.52	0.030	24.2	
	0.043	52.70	0.021	23.2	
	0.030	52.70	0.013	23.2	
	0.022	50.88	0.009	22.2	
	0.015	50.88	0.007	22.2	
	0.011	49.06	0.003	22.2	
	0.008	47.25	0.001	22.2	
	0.006	45.43			
	0.004	43.61			
	0.003	41.80			
	0.001	36.34			

Table 3. Grain size distribution values for Test Soil 1 and 2.

#### **4.2.5** Atterberg Limits

The Atterberg limits were determined in accordance with ASTM D4318 guidelines, involving two main tests: the liquid limit (LL) and the plastic limit (PL). For the liquid limit test, the moisture content at which a soil transitions from a plastic to a liquid state was measured using a Casagrande cup. A specific amount of water was added to the soil and mixed until it showed consistency. Then, the specimen was placed in the cup, and a groove was formed through the specimen using a grooving tool. The cup was then raised and dropped multiple times, recording the number of blows needed for the soil to close the groove. The moisture content corresponding to 25 blows was determined as the liquid limit.

The plastic limit test determines the moisture content at which soil changes from a plastic state to a semi-solid state. A small amount of soil was mixed with water until it reached a plastic consistency. The moist soil was then hand-rolled into a thread with a diameter of about 3.2 mm (1/8 inches), and the moisture content at which the thread crumbled upon rolling was measured as the plastic limit. Plasticity index (PI) can be calculated using LL and PL.

The Atterberg limit tests were performed on test soils under various conditions: with and without GGBFS, with lime, and with combinations of GGBFS and lime or Portland cement. Tests were performed both with and without curing. For tests without curing, liquid limit and plastic limit testing were conducted immediately upon mixing. In contrast, for tests with curing, the specimens were covered and allowed to sit for seven days before conducting the tests. Atterberg limits for Test Soil 1 and 2 are found in Table 4.

Туре	LL	PL	PI
Test Soil 1	27	13	14
Test Soil 2	82	26	56

Table 4. Atterberg Limits for Test Soil 1 and Test Soil 2.

#### 4.2.6 pH Testing

pH testing is a laboratory analysis used to determine the acidity or alkalinity of a substance, such as soil, water, or a chemical solution. The pH scale ranges from 0 to 14, with a pH of 7 considered neutral. A pH below 7 indicates acidity, while a pH above 7 indicates alkalinity. In this study, the pH levels of the soil, GGBFS, Lime, and soil mixed with additives were assessed following ASTM D4972 guidelines. For the soil, a soil-water suspension was prepared by mixing

it with water. The pH was determined using Method A, employing a potentiometer with a pHsensitive electrode.

#### 4.2.7 Bar Linear Shrinkage

The bar linear shrinkage test is a laboratory procedure employed to determine the linear shrinkage of a soil specimen during the drying process. The purpose of this test is to quantify the extent of linear shrinkage experienced by the soil specimen as it loses moisture. This test was realized according to The British Standard, BS 1377.

The test was done by preparing around 150 grams of soil, passing a #40 sieve. The soil specimen was mixed with deionized water to achieve approximately the Liquid Limit consistency. Then, a portion of the soil was placed in a semi-circular linear bar mold with dimensions approximately 6 inches in length and 1 inch in diameter. The mold dimensions were measured to ensure uniformity. The soil was compacted into three layers and tapped against a flat surface between each layer to eliminate any trapped air bubbles. Subsequently, the soil specimen in the mold was exposed to an environment with controlled temperature and humidity, allowing the soil to undergo natural drying. As the moisture content in the soil reduced during the drying process, the soil volume decreased correspondingly. This volume change caused the soil specimen to shrink. To ascertain the shrinkage limit value, intermediate mass and length readings were recorded during the air-drying process until the volume change ceased, while the water content continued to decrease. Subsequently, the mold was oven-dried for 24 hours at a controlled temperature of  $110 \pm 5^{\circ}$ C (Figure 5). After drying, the final mass and length measurements were retaken.



Figure 5. Oven-dried specimens for the bar linear shrinkage.

The length of the soil specimen was carefully measured three times using a digital caliper, and the average length was used to calculate the linear shrinkage. For the shrinkage limit, the changes in length observed during the air-drying period were plotted against the corresponding water content. The shrinkage limit was determined as the first water content at which no further variation in the length of the soil specimen was observed, signifying the point at which the shrinkage process ceased.

#### 4.2.8 Scanning Electron Microscopy

Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) is a powerful imaging technique to study materials surface morphology and composition at high magnification. This method was done using the Samuel Roberts Noble Microscopy Laboratory at the University of Oklahoma. SEM operates by scanning a focused electron beam across the specimen surface, generating various signals upon interaction with the atoms in the material. Detectors capture the SEM images, measuring the intensity of emitted signals. This process involves scanning the electron beam in a raster pattern across the specimen's surface, resulting pixel-by-pixel data, creating a high-resolution image of the specimen. An example of SEM taken for Test Soil 1 is shown in Figure 6. Test Soil specimens mixed with different concentrations of GGBFS were subjected to SEM to observe and compare the presence of reaction products with specimens lacking GGBFS. Photographs were taken at different magnifications to analyze the specimens in detail.



Figure 6. Test Soil 1 untreated (left) and treated (right) with 8% GGBFS.

#### 4.2.9 Whole-Rock X-Ray Fluorescence

ALS Global conducted whole-rock X-ray fluorescence (XRF) analysis to determine the elemental composition of the raw materials and soil mixes. XRF analysis is based on the principle that when a specimen is exposed to high-energy X-rays, the atoms in the specimen become excited, resulting in the emission of characteristic X-rays with energies corresponding to specific elements present in the specimen. The XRF instrument is equipped with a spectrometer that analyzes the energies of these emitted X-rays, generating a spectrum that graphically represents the elements in the specimen and their respective concentrations.

The main focus of the analysis was to assess the concentrations of calcium and sulfur in the specimens. To prepare the specimens for accurate and reliable XRF analysis, each weighing around 10 grams, they underwent pulverization to ensure they passed through a number 80 sieve. In the whole-rock analysis, the specimens were melted to create fused disks, which were used for the XRF testing to determine the elemental composition.

#### **Chapter 5: Test Results and Discussion**

#### **5.1** Compaction Testing

Both Test Soil 1 and 2 underwent compaction using the Harvard miniature apparatus, and their respective compositions and compaction procedures were as follows. Test Soil 1 was composed of 50% kaolinite, 50% sand, and approximately 20,000 ppm of sulfate in the form of gypsum. The soil was compacted using the Harvard miniature apparatus into three equal layers at 12 blows per layer. Compaction curves were developed for untreated and treated soil with different concentrations of GGBFS: 0%, 6%, 8%, and 12%. Multiple specimens were tested at each compaction point until consistent results were achieved. The maximum dry densities (MDDs) were 118, 121, 119.5, and 119 pcf, respectively, while their corresponding optimum water contents (OMCs) were 12.2, 11.3, 12.5, and 12.1%. These curves are presented in Figure 7, where each point represents a single specimen tested. Treated soils had a slightly higher MDD compared to untreated soil. However, the OMC was similar for all, except for GGBFS at 6%, which also gave the highest MDD. This lack of pattern may be attributed to the methodology employed. Given that the test soil and the additives were mixed and immediately tested for compaction, it is possible that the interactions between the soil and GGBFS may have influenced the results.



Figure 7. Compaction curves for Test Soil 1.

Test Soil 2 was tested in a manner similar to Test Soil 1. The main difference was that Test Soil 2 contained bentonite instead of kaolinite. Compaction involved the Harvard miniature apparatus with three equal layers compacted at 15 blows per layer. Like Test Soil 1, compaction curves were developed for untreated and treated soil with different concentrations of GGBFS based on dry mass: 0%, 6%, 8%, and 12%. Multiple specimens at each compaction point were also made to ensure consistent results. The MDDs for this case were 103.2, 101.7, 100.5, and 102.4 pcf, respectively, while their corresponding OMCs were 22.2, 22.5, 21.7, and 21.5%. These curves are presented in Figure 8, where each point represents one specimen tested. Similar to the findings of Test Soil 1, Test Soil 2 exhibited no significant MDD changes or consistent patterns in OMC. Again, the experimental methodology may have contributed to this lack of pattern, potentially due to variable rate of reactions occurring between the soil and GGBFS from the outset of the tests. The outcomes of these compaction tests aided in determining the range of moisture contents selected to produce unconfined compression test specimens.


Figure 8. Compaction curves for Test Soil 2.

# **5.2 Unconfined Compression Test (UCT)**

#### **5.2.1 Test Soils Untreated and Treated with GGBFS**

To assess the performance of GGBFS as a stabilizer, a series of UCTs were conducted. The optimal amount of GGBFS depended on the compaction characteristics of each Test Soil, which is why three concentrations of GGBFS were chosen (6, 8, and 12%). Based on the results of compaction testing, three specimens were prepared using the same compaction effort with different moisture contents around the OMC for each Test Soil. After preparing the untreated and treated soil specimens, they were wrapped in cellophane with two different curing periods, one for seven days and the other for five days, which was then soaked in water for two more days. After curing, specimens were tested in a compression testing machine until failure.

Results for Test Soil 1 and 2 after seven-day curing periods are shown in Figures 9 and 10, respectively, where each point represents the outcome of one specimen. Results for each test can be found in Appendix A. For Test Soil 1, the optimal water content for strength gain was between 10% and 11% for treated specimens. In this range of water content, there was an increase in the

average unconfined compressive strength (UCS), above the untreated soil UCS, of approximately 35, 40, and 42 psi for 6%, 8%, and 12% GGBFS, respectively. The peak strength between specimens treated with 8% and 12% GGBFS was minimal, which is why no higher concentrations of GGBFS were tested. This also indicates that the optimum concentration of GGBFS for Test Soil 1 was about 8% by dry soil weight. While the data displays a consistent trend, scattered points with similar characteristics could be attributed to slight variations in moisture content during the mixing process. The samples were sequentially prepared, and moisture loss might have occurred between the creation of individual specimens, as well as slightly different densities due to human error.



Figure 9. Unconfined compression strength vs. water content for Test Soil 1.

For Test Soil 2, the optimal water content for treated specimens was between 21% and 22%. By looking at the values of UCS in this range, the UCS on average increased above the untreated UCS by 47, 50, and 52 psi for treated specimens with GGBFS concentrations of 6%, 8%, and 12%, respectively. Similar to Test Soil 1, there was not a significant increase of strength in specimens with GGBFS concentrations from 8% to 12%, which is why the optimal GGBFS

concentration was noted to be around 8% by dry soil weight. The optimal water content for strength gain was selected to be 11% for Test Soil 1, with the optimal GGBFS concentration being 8%. For Test Soil 2, the optimal water content was selected at 23% for an optimal GGBFS concentration of 8%. Similar to Test Soil 1, scattered points might be attributed to moisture loss during the specimen preparation. The observed downward trend in untreated Test Soil 2 is not fully understood, but it may be attributed to the significant influence of water content on the diffuse-double layer and behavior of high PI soils.

According to ODOT method OHD L-50 for chemically treated soils, the desired UCS increase must be at least 50 psi but no more than 150 psi. This was accomplished for all chemically treated specimens for Test Soil 2 but not for Test Soil 1, although Test Soil 1 treated specimens were close to meeting this goal. Additionally, an increase in unconfined compression strength of 42 psi is not trivial, considering for example that the range of unconfined strength for clayey soils ranges from about 4 psi for soft up to about 60 psi for hard clays.



Figure 10. Unconfined compression strength vs. water content for Test Soil 2.

For the second curing period, which consisted of 5 curing days followed by a soaking

period in water for two more days, the optimal GGBFS concentration was used to prepare the specimens. While all Test Soil 1 specimens disintegrated in water, some Test Soil 2 specimens remained intact for testing. However, their UCS decreased considerably compared to the unsoaked specimens, as shown in Figure 11.



Figure 11. Comparison of UCS of soaked and unsoaked specimens treated with 8% GGBFS for Test Soil 2.

#### 5.2.2 Test Soils Treated with Lime

Test Soils were prepared with hydrated lime based on guidance found in OHD L-50 for chemically treated soils. Upon analyzing the grain size distribution and plasticity of both Test Soil 1 and Test Soil 2, it was found that the AASHTO classification system classified Test Soil 1 as A-2-6 and Test Soil 2 as A-2-7. However, test soils were synthesized within the lab using relatively pure clay minerals, and the percentage of the sand fraction used was fine sand. Consequently, lime dosages were selected based on the lime dosing rates of soils A-6 and A-7-6. For Test Soil 1, the recommended concentration was 4%, whereas for Test Soil 2, it was 6%. For these tests, the water content implemented for the specimens was slightly higher than the optimum of GGBFS-treated

specimens to aid lime activation. Results for each test can be found in Appendix B.

As shown in Figure 12, for Test Soil 1 with lime, the unsoaked specimen UCS increased on average by 25 psi. This is similar to the increase observed in specimens treated with 6% GGBFS, but less than observed for 8% GGBFS, which was 40 psi. On the other hand, soaked specimens disintegrated in water before being tested.



Figure 12. Comparison of UCS for soaked and unsoaked specimens for Test Soil 1 treated with 8% GGBFS or 4% lime.

Results for Test Soil 2 are shown in Figure 13. Unsoaked specimens had an average increase in UCS of about 27 psi compared to the untreated soil. The increase in strength was lower than the average increase of all GGBFS-treated specimens. Unlike soaked specimens for Test Soil 1, soaked specimens for Test Soil 2 could be tested, but their UCS decreased considerably, with an average UCS value of 29 psi.



Figure 13. Comparison of UCS for soaked and unsoaked specimens for Test Soil 2 treated with GGBFS or 6% lime.

# 5.2.3 Test Soils Treated with GGBFS and Lime, GGBFS and Portland Cement, and GGBFS and Sodium Carbonate

Some studies have shown that GGBFS by itself possesses a very low rate of hydration (Song et. al 2000 & Yi, Liska, Jin, & Al-Tabbaa 2016). To improve this, GGBFS can be activated by adding certain chemicals. According to Ouf (2001): "The most commonly used activators are calcium hydroxide, calcium sulphate, ordinary Portland cement, sodium hydroxide, sodium carbonate, and sodium sulphate". To investigate the strength enhancement of GGBFS, specimens were made with 0.5% lime and 7% GGBFS, 1% lime and 7% GGBFS, 1% PC and GGBFS, 3% PC and GGBFS, and 3% sodium carbonate (SC) and GGBFS. Similar to the specimens treated only with lime, the water content implemented was about 1% higher than the optimum of GGBFS-treated specimens to aid lime activation; 12% and 24% for Test Soil 1 and 2, respectively. Results for each test can be found in Appendix C.

For Test Soil 1, the average UCS test results for all treated and untreated specimens are

shown in Figure 14, where the missing bars in the soaked specimens column indicate that they could not be tested after the soaking process. Unsoaked specimens treated with a combination of lime (0.5% and 1%) and GGBFS exhibited a substantial increase in average UCS values, exceeding 200 psi compared to the untreated specimens. Moreover, the soaked specimens displayed notably improved performance compared to specimens treated solely with GGBFS or lime. These specimens withstood the soaking process and exhibited higher UCS values than untreated soil specimens. Interestingly, it was noted that specimens treated with 0.5% lime and 7 % GGBFS demonstrated a higher UCS than those treated with 1% lime and 7 % GGBFS. While the reason for this behavior is unclear, some researchers (e.g. Wild et. al. 1999) have suggested that a lower lime dosage is adequate to activate GGBFS, with higher amounts potentially delaying the cementitious reactions. However, the appropriate amount of lime to activate the GGBFS has not been established yet and requires further study (Wild et al. 1999 and Ouf 2001). Chemical treatment with 1% PC and 7% GGBFS differed notably from 3% PC and 7% GGBFS. While the first treatment for unsoaked exhibited a similar UCS increase to specimens treated with 8% GGBFS, the latter showed a significant increase in the UCS, with an average of more than 300 psi compared to untreated specimens. We can conclude that 1% PC was insufficient to activate the GGBFS. However, none of the specimens could be tested after the soaking process. Concerning the specimens treated with SC (1% and 3%) and 7% GGBFS, only unsoaked specimens were tested, and both mixes gave a similar UCS average to those treated only with 8% GGBFS, so it seems that SC at this dosage did not activate the GGBFS.



Figure 14. Unconfined compression strength for treated and untreated Test Soil 1 specimens.

Figure 15 shows average UCS test results of all treated and untreated specimens for Test Soil 2. Unsoaked specimens treated with a mixture of lime and GGBFS significantly increased the UCS compared to untreated specimens. The average UCS increased by 65 psi for specimens treated with 0.5% lime and 7% GGBFS and by 94 psi for specimens treated with 1% lime and 7% GGBFS. Even the soaked specimens displayed enhanced average UCS values in comparison to the unsoaked, untreated specimens. For soaked specimens treated with 0.5% lime and 7% GGBFS, the average UCS increased by 15 psi, while those treated with 1% lime and 7% GGBFS showed an average UCS increase of 79 psi. In contrast to Test Soil 1, it appears that a 1% lime dosage was sufficient to activate the GGBFS effectively in Test Soil 2. Treated unsoaked specimens with 1% PC and 7% GGBFS showed a slightly higher strength than those treated with 8% GGBFS, showing an average increase of about 78 psi compared to untreated specimens. Compared to untreated soil

and among all the treatments used, unsoaked specimens treated with 3% PC and 7% GGBFS displayed the most significant average UCS increase of 140 psi. However, soaked specimens with a mix of PC and GGBFS disintegrated before the testing process. Regarding specimens treated with SC, only unsoaked specimens were tested with a mix of 3% SC and 7% GGBFS. Their UCS increase was the lowest of all treated specimens, with an average UCS increase of about 16 psi compared to untreated specimens.

For both test soils, an addition of lime or PC into GGBFS greatly enhanced the UCS for unsoaked specimens, whereas the addition of lime with GGBFS also increased the UCS for soaked specimens. On the other hand, the addition of SC into a mix with GGBFS showed a lower UCS compared to any other treated specimens with GGBFS. It was concluded that SC with the dosage used in this study did not activate GGBFS; in fact, it seemed to reduce the effectiveness of GGBFS. This could be due, in part, to the method of mixing SC with GGBFS, where SC was introduced in granular form without prior dissolution in water before mixing. This approach might have significantly delayed the activation of GGBFS. Bernal et al. (2015) observed that the addition of sodium carbonate, after complete dissolution in water, to GGBFS mortars resulted in increased UCS after 7 days, with a continuous gradual strength increase observed with longer curing periods up to 56 days.



Figure 15. Unconfined compression strength for treated and untreated Test Soil 2 specimens. 5.3 Response to Wetting Test

Determination of volumetric changes under the presence of water was key to determine whether GGBFS by itself or in conjunction with small amount of other additives, such as lime or PC, could be used for soil stabilization in sulfate-bearing soils. Swelling behavior was tested after inundation of the specimen under one-dimensional loading conditions using a vertical pressure of 250 psf. This vertical pressure is similar to that at a depth of 2-feet below the top of pavement. Test results can be found in Figure 16 and 17 for Test soil 1 and 2, respectively, with tabulated values for each test attached in Appendix D.

Untreated Test Soil 1 exhibited a gradual swelling behavior over the course of 1 day, followed by a slight reduction in the rate of swelling, reaching a vertical swell of around 3% after 6 days. In contrast, the treated specimen with GGBFS displayed a similar behavior during the initial 60 minutes. However, the GGBFS-treated soil stopped swelling, stabilizing at a vertical

swell of 1.9%. This remained constant until the conclusion of the 6-day test. The specimen treated with lime exhibited a gradual increase in swelling during the initial 200 minutes, albeit at a slower rate compared to the untreated soil. However, after this initial period, the swelling rate dramatically escalated, ultimately reaching a vertical swell of approximately 6% by the end of the 7-day test, which is about double that of the untreated soil. This behavior was expected in sulfate-bearing soils, where the sudden increase in swelling is likely due to ettringite formation. In the case of 0.5% lime and 7% GGBFS, and 1% lime and 7% GGBFS, the vertical swell was also higher than the untreated Test Soil 1, which suggests that the presence of lime facilitated the development of ettringite-type minerals. In the case of specimens treated with 1% PC and 7% GGBFS, as well as 3% PC and 7% GGBFS, minimal swelling was observed for nearly a day but then it started to increase until the end of the test after 8 days, with a vertical swell of 0.6% and 1.7%, respectively. A similar behavior was observed in the one treated with only PC, with a vertical swell of about 1.3%. This could indicate that the addition of PC could be used to activate GGBFS without causing adverse swelling behavior. However, further investigation with longer tracking periods is needed to validate this observation. Since SC did not suffice as an activator for GGBFS based on UCS, no further testing was conducted.



Figure 16. Vertical swell versus elapsed time from response to wetting tests on Test Soil 1 with and without chemical treatment.

In the case of Test Soil 2, untreated soil showed a notable swelling behavior attributed to the high reactivity of bentonite clay present in the soil. When treated with 8% GGBFS, the soil showed minimal swelling, reaching a vertical swell of approximately 0.4% after 7 days. Similarly, specimens treated with 0.5% lime and 7% GGBFS, as well as those treated with 1% lime and 7% GGBFS, displayed no significant swelling for nearly 6 days. However, a slight increase in swelling was observed after 7 days, reaching vertical swells of 1.4% and 0.2%, respectively. When the soil was treated with lime or PC, swelling started to become apparent after 3 days, reaching a vertical swell of around 2% and 1.8%, respectively. For specimens treated with 1% PC and 7% GGBFS, no apparent swelling was observed during the first 5 days, but it gradually increased to nearly 1% after 7 days. When 3% PC and 7% GGBFS were added, the swelling behavior remained insignificant for the initial 3 days but then began to increase, ultimately reaching a vertical swell

of 3.0%. It appears that the distinct mineral compositions of Test Soil 1 and Test Soil 2 influence the rate at which ettringite minerals can form. According to Mitchell and Dermatas (1992), the swelling behavior depends on the quantity and rate of release of alumina, with kaolinite exhibiting a higher release rate compared to montmorillonite.



Figure 17. Vertical swell versus elapsed time from response to wetting tests on Test Soil 2 with and without chemical treatment.

The results from both Test Soil 1 and Test Soil 2 suggest that GGBFS has the potential to effectively mitigate the swelling of sulfate-bearing soils without inducing adverse reactions. When GGBFS was introduced to both soils, a noticeable reduction in swelling was observed compared to untreated soils. However, when lime or PC were added to activate the GGBFS, mixed results were obtained. In the case of Test Soil 1, specimens treated with lime and GGBFS exhibit a higher vertical swell than those untreated. However, for Test Soil 2, the swelling behavior was reduced for several days, although there was observed a slightly upward trend around the end of the test.

This could indicate that ettringite formation was still happening, but at a very slow rate. When PC and GGBFS were used, the swelling behavior was suppressed for an extended period in both Test Soils. However, there was a slight resurgence in swelling observed in both cases. This suggests that certain reactions may take place over longer durations than those tested here. Therefore, conducting further swelling tests with extended testing periods is advisable to gain a more comprehensive understanding of this behavior.

#### **5.4 Atterberg Limits**

Liquid limit (LL) and plastic limit (PL) tests were both conducted on Test Soil 1 and Test Soil 2. These tests embraced untreated specimens as well as specimens treated with GGBFS, lime, GGBFS and lime, and GGBFS and PC. For most of these tests, the procedure involved mixing the test soil with the respective additives, followed by the addition of water without any curing period. However, to assess potential changes and slow reaction that might occur in treated specimens when given time to cure, a subset of treated specimens was tested after being allowed to cure for 7 days. Results for Test Soil 1 and Test Soil 2 are shown in Tables 5 and 6, respectively. In the case of Test Soil 1, without any curing time, addition of different concentrations of GGBFS (6%, 8%, and 12%) resulted in a marginal increase in the LL and Plasticity Index (PI). A similar trend was observed in specimens treated with lime and GGBFS, although in specimens treated with PC and GGBFS, a slight reduction of both LL and PI was observed. For specimens allowed to cure, those treated with GGBFS and 1% lime along with 7% GGBFS displayed behavior similar to that without curing time. The only exception was the specimens treated with 0.5% lime and 7% GGBFS, which exhibited an increase in LL and a decrease in PI. Conversely, specimens treated with PC and GGBFS showed an increase in both LL and PI compared to those without curing time.

	No curing time			7-Day curing time		
Stabilizer	LL	PL	PI	LL	PL	PI
Untreated	27	13	14	-	-	-
GGBFS 6%	28	12	16	-	-	-
GGBFS 8%	31	13	18	33	16	17
GGBFS 12%	30	14	16	-	-	-
Lime 4%	37	23	14	-	-	-
Lime 0.5% + GGBFS						
7%	35	17	18	29	21	8
Lime 1% + GGBFS 7%	38	20	18	36	22	14
Lime PC 1% + GGBFS						
7%	26	14	12	35	19	16

Table 5. Atterberg Limits results for Test Soil 1.

Results for Test Soil 2 without any curing time indicated a decrease in the PI for all treated specimens, except for the ones treated with PC and GGBFS, which exhibited an increase in LL and a decrease in PL. Specimens treated solely with GGBFS showed a marginal decrease in PI. Notably, specimens treated with lime and a combination of lime and GGBFS had the most pronounced influence in reducing the PI of the soil, with lime likely playing a significant role in this effect. In specimens subjected to curing time, those treated with GGBFS showed a slight decrease in PL and PI, while those treated with lime and GGBFS displayed a notable decrease in both LL and PI. Similarly, for specimens treated with PC and GGBFS, there was also a reduction in LL and PI.

	No curing time			7-Day curing time		
Stabilizer	LL	PL	PI	LL	PL	PI
Untreated	82	26	56	-	-	-
GGBFS 8%	75	22	53	82	24	58
GGBFS 12%	76	22	54	-	-	-
Lime 6%	57	35	22	-	-	-
Lime 0.5% + GGBFS 7%	67	24	43	51	33	18
Lime 1% + GGBFS 7%	53	34	19	52	39	13
Lime PC 1% + GGBFS						
7%	87	21	66	75	26	49

Table 6. Atterberg Limits results for Test Soil 2.

It can be concluded that GGBFS had a minor influence on the plasticity of both test soils. Notably PI reduction was only observed when either lime or PC was added to the mix. For Test Soil 2, a substantial decrease in PI was observed in specimens treated with 1% lime and 7% GGBFS. In the case of Test Soil 1, the decrease of PI was observed in specimens treated with 0.5% lime and 7% GGBFS after 7 days of curing. The limited impact of GGBFS on the plasticity of the test soils might be due to its relatively low activation process and the importance of pH to facilitates the formation of hydration products between GGBFS and the soil (e.g. Arkurk et al. 2019), which will be discussed in the next section.

#### 5.5 pH Testing

pH test results are presented in Figures 18 and 19 for Test Soil 1 and Test Soil 2, respectively. Tabulated values are found in Appendix F. Regarding the additives, GGBFS, lime, PC, and SC have pH values of 10.14, 12.63, 11, and 11.74, respectively. The untreated Test Soil 1 has a pH value of 7.36, which is considered nearly neutral. Untreated Test Soil 2 had a pH of 8.65, which is slightly basic. All treated specimens exhibited an increase in pH, with the most significant increases observed in specimens treated with lime or lime and GGBFS, reaching pH values close to 12. This elevation in pH is of particular importance due to its potential to enhance the solubility of silica and alumina within the soil when the pH surpasses 12.4, thereby facilitating pozzolanic reactions. This may account for the substantial improvement in UCS when lime was added alongside GGBFS. However, it's worth noting that reactions involving alumina, calcium, and sulfate are more likely to occur, leading to the production of ettringite, which might explain the vertical swell observed in lime-GGBFS specimens. In the quest for non-calcium-based additives capable of increasing pH without triggering adverse reactions, sodium carbonate (SC) was considered. It has been shown that using sodium carbonate as an activator can be a slow

process, and the addition of secondary additives may accelerate the hydration process (Akturk et. al. 2019). Moreover, Arkurk et. al. (2019) found that achieving a minimum pH of 11.5 is essential for initiating an effective alkali-activation reaction, allowing OH ions to break the Si-O and Al-O bonds in GGBFS, facilitating the formation of hydration products. However, SC alone did not produce a significant increase in pH, and there was minimal impact on UCS with this addition. As previously mentioned, the lack of dissolution of granular SC in water before mixing it with GGBFS could have reduced the effectiveness of using SC as an activator. Even so, it can be inferred that higher SC/GGBFS ratios, coupled with longer curing periods, might activate GGBFS more effectively. Hence, further research using different additives is recommended to explore alternative options to lime for increasing pH.



Figure 18. pH of Test Soil 1 with and without any treatments and chemical additives used.

In the case of Test Soil 2, results were similar to the ones found in Test Soil 1. Specimens treated with lime or lime and GGBFS exhibited the most significant pH increase, around 12, and their UCS also showed substantial improvement compared to specimens treated with only GBBFS

or lime. However, the upward trend in swelling behavior observed at the end of swelling tests for lime-GGBFS specimens suggests that this increase in the pH may also be contributing to the ettringite formation in the soil at a very slow rate. This could be attributed to the slower release of alumina from montmorillonite compared to kaolinite.



Figure 19. pH of Test Soil 2 with and without any treatments and chemical additives used.

Figures 20 and 21 illustrate the variations in pH, LL, PL, and PI for Test Soil 1 and Test Soil 2, respectively. Positive values signify an increase in the parameter compared to untreated soil, while negative values indicate the opposite trend. By looking at Figure 26, we can see a rough correlation in LL, PL, and PI when the pH increases. Specimens treated with lime or lime and GGBFS, which exhibited a significant rise in pH, also experienced substantial increases in LL and PL compared to those treated solely with GGBFS or GGBFS and PC. All treated specimens displayed an increase in PI, except for those treated with GGBFS and PC, which exhibited a slight decrease.

An opposite pattern was observed on Test Soil 2, where treated specimens with pH values

close to 12 showed a notable decrease in LL. Regarding PL, the results were somewhat less consistent. Lime-GGBFs treated specimens showed a notable increase in PL, except for the one treated with 0.5% lime and 7% GGBFS. Since the PI depends on both the LL and PL, results did not seem to follow a clear trend.



Figure 20. Changes in pH and Atterberg Limits (with no curing) for Test Soil 1 using different

# additives.



Figure 21. Changes in pH and Atterberg Limits (with no curing) for Test Soil 2 using different

additives.

# 5.6 Bar Linear Shrinkage

Results from the bar linear shrinkage provide two parameters: the linear shrinkage (LS) and shrinkage limit (SL). LS represents the maximum percentage decrease in soil length when it is subjected to oven drying, while SL indicates the water content percentage at which the soil no longer undergoes shrinkage during the drying process.

Results for Test soil 1 are shown in Figure 22 whereas for Test Soil 2 they are shown in Figure 23, encompassing untreated and treated specimens with GGBFS, lime and GGBFS, and PC and GGBFS. Tabulated values are found in Appendix G. In the case of Test Soil 1, it's notable that the LS increased in lime-GGBFS treated specimens, suggesting more significant volume changes during the drying process. This increase in LS may be linked to the observed vertical swell in lime-GGBFS treated specimens, which can be influenced by the elevated pH resulting from lime addition. Conversely, specimens treated with GGBFS alone showed a slight decrease in LS, while those treated with PC and GGBFS exhibited no significant change in LS. Moreover, all treated specimens experienced a substantial reduction in SL. This reduction in SL is advantageous because it implies that the treated soils can undergo shrinkage without cracking at lower water content levels. However, for lime-GGBFS treated specimens, their LS might suggest that more pronounced volumetric changes could occur if the water level varies. In contrast, Test Soil 1 treated solely with GGBFS or PC and GGBFS would exhibit similar volumetric changes than untreated under similar conditions.



Figure 22. Linear Shrinkage and Shrinkage Limit for Test Soil 1 with and without using chemical additives.

For Test Soil 2, specimens treated with lime and GGBFS exhibited a reduction in both LS and SL. This indicates a decrease in the activity of the soil as a result of the chemical treatment. It can be inferred that Test Soil 2, containing highly active minerals like montmorillonite, was particularly influenced by the pH increase resulting from treatment. In contrast, specimens treated with GGBFS or GGBFS and PC showed a marginal change in LS. However, similar to other

treated specimens, the SL decreased.



Figure 23. Linear Shrinkage and Shrinkage Limit for Test Soil 2 with and without using chemical additives.

Figures 24 and 25 illustrate the variations in pH, SL, and LS for Test Soil 1 and Test Soil 2, respectively. It appears that there was a reduction in SL as pH increased for Test Soil 1. In the case of Test Soil 2, the decrease in SL is even more pronounced. Concerning LS, specimens that exhibited the highest increase in pH, specifically those treated with lime and GGBFS, showed an

increase in LS for Test Soil 1. However, for Test Soil 2, specimens treated with 1% lime and 7% GGBFS, as well as 1% PC and 7% GGBFS, demonstrated the most significant decrease in LS. Interestingly, the specimen treated with 0.5% lime and 7% GGBFS exhibited a slight increase in LS for Test Soil 2.



Figure 24. Changes in pH, SL, and LS for Test Soil 1 with and without using chemical additives.



Figure 25. Changes in pH, SL, and LS for Test Soil 2 with and without using chemical additives.

# 5.7 Scanning Electron Microscopy

Scanning electron microscopy was employed to analyze Test Soil 1 and Test Soil 2 specimens treated with various concentrations of GGBFS (6%, 8%, and 12%). The primary objective was to investigate potential alterations in the microstructure of both test soils that could indicate the development of reactions in treated specimens. At a magnification range of 350 mm, it becomes apparent that there are more crystal-shaped elements present in the GGBFS-treated

soils, which could be indicative of the presence of cementitious reaction products. A comparison between untreated and GGBFS-treated Test Soil 1 specimens, specifically those treated with 8% GGBFS (as shown in Figure 26), reveals the presence of some elements with a stick-like morphology rather than the plate-like shape observed in untreated soil.

Regarding Test Soil 2 (Figure 27), variations in microstructure were primarily evident in specimens treated with 8% GGBFS. In the untreated soil, the finer particles adhering to the sand particles exhibited a smoother, plate-like shape. In contrast, in the soil treated with GGBFS, there was an apparent presence of more crystalline-shaped particles, suggesting potential reactions with the stabilizer.



Figure 26. SEM photographs a) CBS mode, untreated Test Soil 1, and b) CBS mode, Test Soil 1

treated with 8% GGBFS.



Figure 27. SEM photographs a) CBS mode, untreated Test Soil 2, and b) CBS mode, Test Soil 2 treated with 8% GGBFS.

# 5.8 Whole-Rock X-Ray Fluorescence Testing

The purpose of whole rock XRF analysis was to examine the composition of the GGBFS for testing and to assess the amount of sulfur in the different materials used to create both test soils. The chemical constituents of GBBFS are shown in Table 7. These components are similar to the ones found in the literature, composed primarily of silica, alumina, calcium, and magnesium (e.g.

## Ouf 2001).

Chemical Constituent	Percent by Weight
SiO <sub>2</sub>	40
$Al_2O_3$	8.1
CaO	38.5
MgO	10.4
K <sub>2</sub> O	0.5
TiO <sub>2</sub>	0.4
Other minerals	11.11

Table 7. Chemical constituents of GGBFS.

Table 8 provides data on the elemental sulfur content of GGBFS and the components utilized in the test soils. Test Soil 1 and Test Soil 2 exhibit sulfur contents that correspond to approximately 14,080 and 20,072 ppm of sulfate, respectively. As both test soils were prepared using the same process, the lower sulfate content observed in Test Soil 1 might be attributed to the use of a poorly mixed sample during the whole rock XRF analysis. Moreover, both soils remain significantly high when considering chemical treatment alternatives.

Material	XRF Sulfur %	Calculated SO <sub>4</sub> %	Calculated SO <sub>4</sub> ppm
Gypsum	22.1	66.21	662076
GGBFS	1.05	3.15	31456
Kaolinite	0	0	0
Bentonite	0.43	1.29	12882
Sand	0	0	0
Test Soil 1	0.47	1.41	14080
Test Soil 2	0.67	2.01	20072
Test Soil 1 + 8%			
GGBFS	0.72	2.16	21570
Test Soil 2 + 8% GGBFS	1.02	3.06	30557

Table 8. Elemental sulfur content and calculated equivalent sulfate content for test materials(Miller & Prada 2022).

### **Chapter 6: Conclusions and Recommendations**

# **6.1** Conclusions

The purpose was to investigate the potential of using GGBFS as a stabilizer for high sulfate bearing soils. Two test soils with 20,000 ppm of sulfate were evaluated. Test Soil 1 was composed of 50% kaolinite, 50% fine sand, and 20,000 ppm of sulfate in the form of gypsum. Test Soil 2 was similar to Test Soil 1 but using montmorillonite instead of kaolinite. Laboratory tests included compaction tests, unconfined compression tests, swelling test, liquid and plastic limit tests, bar linear shrinkage tests, pH tests, scanning electron microscopy and whole rock XRF testing. Selected tests were conducted in both test soils with two different activators (lime and PC) to assess the performance of GGBFS in comparison with common additives. Since GGBFS is a latent hydraulic material, multiple activators (lime, PC, and SC) were used to selected tests suggest the following:

1) Unconfined compression strength (UCS) increased with the addition of GGBFS in both test soils at a similar moisture content. Notably, the addition of 8% GGBFS appeared to be the most favorable concentration in terms of achieving a balance between strength improvement and the proportion of stabilizer added. Following a curing period of 7 days, Test Soil 1 exhibited a UCS increase of approximately 40 psi when compared to untreated soil, while Test Soil 2 displayed a UCS increase of around 50 psi. In the case of Test Soil 1, the UCS increase did not meet the minimum threshold of 50 psi, as specified for chemical stabilizers by the Oklahoma Department of Transportation (2021). Similarly, Test Soil 2 only marginally surpassed this threshold. However, it is noted that an increase of 40 to 50 psi in strength is not trivial. GGBFS specimens subjected to a soaking period of two days disintegrated before testing.

2) The addition of 7% GGBFS, in conjunction with two activators, lime and PC, resulted in a significant increase in UCS compared to untreated soil and soil treated solely with GGBFS. In the case of Test Soil 1 treated with 1% lime and 7% GGBFS, the UCS increased by approximately 200 psi in comparison to untreated soil. Test Soil 2 subjected to the same treatment yielded an UCS increase of 94 psi. When Test Soil 1 was treated with 1% PC and 7% GGBFS, the UCS was comparable to specimens treated with GGBFS alone. Conversely, Test Soil 1 treated with 3% PC and 7% GGBFS exhibited a substantial UCS increase of about 300 psi, while Test Soil 2 with the same treatment showed an UCS increase of 140 psi. It was noted that larger amounts of PC were required to effectively activate GGBFS when compared to lime. Regarding the third activator, sodium carbonate (SC), the percentages utilized in this study (1% and 3%) proved insufficient to effectively activate GGBFS.

3) The addition of 8% GGBFS was observed to significantly decrease the swelling behavior in both test soils. In Test Soil 1, the addition of GGBFS resulted in a vertical swelling strain of 1.9% compared to 3.3% without treatment. In the case of Test Soil 2, the swelling percentage decreased from 5.2% to 0.3% with the addition of GGBFS.

4) When lime was used as an activator, Test Soil 1 exhibited a percent swell higher than untreated soil. For Test Soil 2, the swelling behavior initially decreased, and there were no noticeable changes for several days, although a slight increase was observed towards the end of the test. As mentioned earlier, these varying behaviors between Test Soil 1 and Test Soil 2 could be attributed to the differential release of alumina, with Test Soil 1, composed of 50% kaolinite, having a higher release compared to Test Soil 2, which is composed 50% montmorillonite.

5) When PC was used as a GGBFS activator, Test Soil 1 showed no apparent swelling for 12 hours, and started to slowly increase until the test was ended, reaching a percent swell of 0.59

and 1.73% for specimens treated with 1% PC and 7% GGBFs and 3% PC and 7% GGBFS, respectively. In the case of Test Soil 2, no apparent swelling was observed for more than a day; after that the one treated with 3% PC and 7% GGBFS began swelling until the end of the test, reaching a percent swell of 3.0%. Regarding the treatment with 1% PC and 7% GGBFS, their swelling behavior was slower, reaching a vertical swell of 0.8%. Although the vertical swell for both test soils was lower than without treatment, longer periods of testing are recommended for a better understanding of this behavior.

6) The addition of GGBFS had a minor influence on the plasticity of both test soils. The addition of lime and GGBFS produced a notable PI reduction for Test Soil 2 with and without curing, whereas for Test Soil 1, PI reduction was only observed after 7-day curing.

7) It was observed that changes in pH in the soils mixed with different additives are greatly correlated with the plasticity and shrinkage behavior of both soils. Moreover, the increment of pH facilitates the pozzolanic reactions but also facilitates reactions involving alumina, calcium, and sulfate, leading to the production of ettringite minerals.

#### **6.2 Recommendations and Future Investigations**

1) This investigation highlights that GGBFS can enhance the strength and reduce the swelling of sulfate-bearing soils; nevertheless, it requires an activator to fully unlock its latent properties. Previous studies have indicated that the pH of the initial solution affects the rate of reaction (e.g. Akturk et. al. 2019 & Song et. al. 2000).

2) There is potential to emply non-calcium-based chemicals to raise the pH and activate GGBFS without the risk of generating ettringite minerals. For instance, MgO has demonstrated great efficacy as a GGBFS activator (e.g., Yi, Liska, Jin, & Al-Tabbaa 2016). Although sodium carbonate did not activate GGBFS in this study, it is possible that higher concentrations able to

raise the pH as well as longer curing periods may yield positive results.

3) The use of natural sulfate-bearing soils is needed to assess the performance of GGBFS in the field.

4) Although the use of GGBGFS showed a decrease of swelling behavior on both test soils, some reactions might occur at a slower rate than the testing periods employed in this research, which is why longer testing periods are recommended, especially if a calcium-based additive, such as lime or PC, were to be used as a GGBFS activator.

5) The distinct responses between Test Soil 1 and Test Soil 2 with the addition of GGBFS could be explored in future investigations to gain deeper understanding of the chemical reaction involved.

### Bibliography

Adams, A., Dukes, O., Tabet, W., Cerato, A., & Miller, G. (2008). Sulfate induced heave in

Oklahoma soils due to lime stabilization. GeoCongress 2008: Characterization, Monitoring, and

Modeling of GeoSystems, 444-451.

- Akturk, B., Kizilkanat, A., & Kabay, N. (2019). Effect of calcium hydroxide on fresh state behavior of sodium carbonate activated blast furnace slag pastes. *Construction and Building Materials*, 388-399.
- Al-Dakheeli, H., Bulut, R., Scott Garland, G., & Clarke, C. (2021). Utilization of blast-furnace slag as a standalone stabilizer for high sulfate-bearing Soils. *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering*, 10.
- Al-Saray, N. A., Shafiqu, Q. S., & Ibrahim, M. A. (2021, May). Improvement of strenght characteristics for sandy soils by polypropylene fibers (PPF). *Journal of Physics: Conference Series (Vol. 1895, No. 1, p. 012016).*
- ASTM. (2023). D2487 Unified Soil Classification System. ASTM Int'l.
- ASTM. (2023). D3282-15 AASHTO Soil Clasification System. ASTM Int'l.
- Bagonza, S., Peete, J., Freer-Hewish, R., & Newill, D. (1987). Carbonation of stabilized soilcement and soil-lime mixture. *Transport Research Laboratory*.
- Bernal, S., Provis, J., Myers, R., San Nicolas, R., & van Deventer, J. (2015). Role of carbonates in the chemical evolution of sodium carbonate-activated slag binders. *Materials and Structures*, 48.
- Bulk Apothecary. (2019). *Safety Data Sheet Bentonite Clay*. Retrieved from Apothecary, Bulk: https://www.bulkapothecary.com/content/SDS/Bentonite%20Clay%20-%20BA19.pdf
- Chang, Z., Song, X., Munn, R., & Marosszeky, M. (2005). Using limestone aggregates and different cements for enhancing resistance of concrete to sulphuric acid attack. *Cement and concrete research*.
- Das, B. M. (2009). Principles of Geotechnical Engineering. CENGAGE Learning, Stamford, USA.
- Eades, J., & Grim, R. (1960). Reaction of hydrated lime with pure clay minerals in soil stabilization. *Highway Research Board Bulletin*.
- Encyclopedia Britannica. (2023). *Limestone*. Retrieved from Britannica: https://www.britannica.com/science/limestone

- Hillier, S. (1995). Erosion, sedimentation and sedimentary origin of clays. Origin and Mineralogy of Clays: Clays and the Environment, 162-219. Retrieved from https://www.claysandminerals.com/minerals/clayminerals
- Holtz, R. D., Kovacs, W. D., & Sheahan, T. (2011). An Introduction to Geotechnical Engineering (Vol. 733). Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall.
- Holtz, W. (1969). *Soil as an engineering material* (Vol. 17). United States Department of the Interior, Bureau of Reclamation.
- Hussey, N., Cerato, A., Grasmick, J., Holderby, E., Miller, G., & Tabet, W. (2010). An Assessment of Soil Parameters Governing Soil Strenght Increases with Chemical Additives. *GeoFlorida 2010: advances in analysis, modeling & design*, 2702-2711.
- Jawad, I., Taha, M., Majeed, Z., & Khan, T. (2014). Soil stabilization using lime: Advantages, disadvantages and proposing a potential alternative. *Research Journal of Applied Sciences, Engineering and Technology*.
- Krohn, J. P., & Slosson, J. (1980). Assessment of expansive soils with the United States. ANNUAL ENGINEERING GEOLOGY AND SOILS ENGINEERING SYMPOSIUM, 137-151.
- Madhu. (2018). *Difference Between Quicklime and Hydrated Lime*. Retrieved from https://www.differencebetween.com/difference-between-quicklime-and-hydratedlime/#:~:text=The%20key%20difference%20between%20quicklime,hydrated%20lime% 20is%20the%20limestone.
- Mahedi, M., Cetin, B., & White, D. (2018). Performance evaluation of cement and slag stabilized expansive soils. *Transportation Research Record*.
- Marcus, M. (2017). *GlobeSt*. Retrieved from https://www.globest.com/sites/partnerESI/2017/06/28/expansive-soil-7-things-you-needto-know-to-protect-your-investment/
- Material Property Data. (2023). *Old Hickory No. 1 Glaze*. Retrieved from MatWeb: https://www.matweb.com/search/datasheet.aspx?matguid=da94b528b5444ba8ad09902d7 98eb1f2&ckck=1
- Miller, G. A., & Cerato, A. B. (2011). Validation and refinement of chemical stabilization procedures for pavement subgrade soils in Oklahoma: volume I . *Oklahoma. Dept of Transportation*.
- Miller, G. A., & Mantilla Prada, D. J. (2022). FEASIBILITY OF BLAST FURNACE SLAG FOR STABILIZING SULFATE BEARING SOIL. Oklahoma: Oklahoma Department of Transportation.

- Mitchell, J., & Dermatas, D. (1992). Clay soil heave caused by lime-sulfate reactions. Innovations and uses for lime (Vol. 1135). West Conshohocken, PA, USA: ASTM International., 41-64.
- National Lime Association. (2013, October). Technical Brief: Mixture design and testing procedures for lime stabilized soil. Retrieved from https://www.lime.org/documents/publications/free\_downloads/tech-brief-2006.pdf
- National Research Council (U.S.). (1987). *Lime stabilization: reactions, properties, design, and construction*. Washington, D.C.: Transportation Research Board, National Research Council (U.S.).
- Oklahoma Department of Transportation, O. (2021). *Soil Stabilization Mix Design Procedure OHD L-50.* Oklahoma: Oklahoma Department of Transportation.
- Ouf, M. (2001). Stabilisation of Clay Subgrade Soil Using Ground Granulated Blast Furnace Slag. *Doctoral dissertation, University of Leeds*.
- Puppala, A., Intharasombat, N., & Vempati, R. (2005). Experimental Studies on Ettringite-Induced Heaving in Soils. *Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering*.
- S. Wild, J. K. (1995). Effect of Ground Granulated Blast Furnace Slag (GGBS) on the Strength and Swelling properties of Lime-Stabilized Kaolinite in the Presence of Sulphates.
- Sheffield Pottery. (2023). *Old Hickory No.1 Glaze Clay*. Retrieved from https://www.sheffield-pottery.com/Old-Hickory-Number-1-GLAZE-CLAY-p/rm1gla.htm
- Song, S., Sohn, D., Jennings, H., & Mason, T. (2000). Hydration of alkali-activated ground granulated. *Journal of materials science*, 35, 249-257.
- Spencer, B. N. (2018). How to Use Portland Cement: From the German of L. Golinelli, Published Under the Name of "Das Kleine Cement-Büch," by the Association of German Portland Cement Manufacturers (Classic Reprint). *Forgotten Books*.
- Tsivilis, S., Batis, G., Chaniotakis, E., & Grigoriadis, G. (2000). Properties and behavior of limestone cement concrete and mortar. *Cement and concrete research*.
- University of Kansas. (2010). *Kansas Geological Survey*. Retrieved from GeoKansas: https://geokansas.ku.edu/limestone
- Veith, G. (2000). Engineering Properties of Sulphate-Bearing Clay Soils Stabilised with Lime-Activated Ground Granulated Blast Furnace Slag (GGBS). University of South Wales (United Kingdom).
- Wentao Li, Y. Y. (2020). Suppressing Ettringite-Induced Swelling of Gypseous Soil by Using Magnesia-Activated Ground Granulated Blast-Furnace Slag. *Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering*, 6.
- Wild, S., Kinuthia, J., Jones, G., & Higgins, D. (1999). Suppression of swelling associated with ettringite formation in lime stabilized sulphate bearing clay soils by partial substitution of lime with ground granulated blastfurnace slag (GGBS). *Engineering Geology*, 51(4), 257-277.
- Wild, S., Kinuthia, J., Robinson, R., & Humphreys, I. (1996). Effect of Ground Granulated Blast Furnace Slag on the Strength and Swelling Properties of Lime-Stabilized Kaolinite in the Presence of Sulphates. *Clay Minerals*.
- WSDOT Geotechnical Design Manual. (2013). Soil and Rock Classification and Logging. Washington: Washington State Department of Transportation.
- Yadu, L., & Tripathi, R. (2013). *Effect of Granulated Blast Furnace Slag in the Engineering Behavior of Stabilized Soft Soil*. Procedia Engineering.
- Yi, Y., Liska, M., & Al-Tabbaa, A. (2014). Properties of two model soils stabilized with different blends and contents of GGBS, MgO, lime, and PC. *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering*.
- Yi, Y., Liska, M., Jin, F., & Al-Tabbaa, A. (2016). Mechanism of reactive magnesia–ground granulated blastfurnace slag (GGBS) soil stabilization. *Canadian Geotechnical Journal*, 53(5), 773-782.

# Appendix

## Appendix A. Unconfined compression tests for Test Soils treated with GGBFS.

Test Soil 1.

Specimen	Soil Type	w (%)	Ϋ́d	UCS
No.			(pcf)	(psi)
SG7-1	50% K+50% S+20,000ppm	8.05	113.53	32.59
SG7-2	50% K+50% S+20,000ppm	8.16	114.83	43.48
SG7-3	50% K+50% S+20,000ppm	8.34	113.77	43.16
SG9-1	50% K+50% S+20,000ppm	10.32	117.7	51.49
SG9-2	50% K+50% S+20,000ppm	10.5	115.75	48.48
SG9-3	50% K+50% S+20,000ppm	10.34	116.33	36.01
SK11-1	50% K+50% S+20,000ppm	12.32	118.26	41.24
SK11-2	50% K+50% S+20,000ppm	12.31	119.69	30.76
SK11-3	50% K+50% S+20,000ppm	12.37	117.92	37.41
SK13-1	50% K+50% S+20,000ppm	14.31	116.79	22.66
SK13-2	50% K+50% S+20,000ppm	14.11	116.01	16.69
SK13-3	50% K+50% S+20,000ppm	13.82	119.24	15.51
SG6-91	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+6%GGBFS	9.02	103.98	59.48
SG6-92	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+6%GGBFS	8.76	108.72	70.14
SG6-93	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+6%GGBFS	7.97	115.1	67.98
SG6-111	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+6%GGBFS	10.35	120.22	74.04
SG6-112	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+6%GGBFS	10.13	122.78	75.78
SG6-113	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+6%GGBFS	10.74	120.06	93.43
SG6-131	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+6%GGBFS	12.66	119.6	68.42
SG6-132	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+6%GGBFS	12.15	119.74	44.19
SG6-133	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+6%GGBFS	12.16	120.44	41.57
G9-1	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+8%GGBFS	10.14	115.24	78.36
G9-2	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+8%GGBFS	10.29	114.15	91.69
G9-3	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+8%GGBFS	11.11	114.79	91.07
G11-1	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+8%GGBFS	12.03	120.63	78.19
G11-2	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+8%GGBFS	12.08	119.09	69.92
G11-3	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+8%GGBFS	12.21	118.87	67.65
G13-1	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+8%GGBFS	14.22	116.28	40.24
G13-2	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+8%GGBFS	14.17	116.54	43.99
G13-3	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+8%GGBFS	14.04	117.31	60.1
SG12-71	50% K+50% S+20,000ppmSulf+12% GGBFS	8.33	107.1	41.5
SG12-72	50% K+50% S+20,000ppmSulf+12% GGBFS	8.04	11.64	41.3
SG12-73	50% K+50% S+20,000ppmSulf+12% GGBFS	8.11	109.56	49.93
SG12-91	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+12%GGBFS	10.04	116.28	69.44
SG12-92	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+12%GGBFS	9.97	116.94	75.32
SG12-93	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+12%GGBFS	9.94	117.5	85.75
SG12-111	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+12%GGBFS	10.26	117.06	88.23

SG12-112	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+12%GGBFS	10.49	116.24	82.63
SG12-113	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+12%GGBFS	10.63	116.05	84.75
SG12-131	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+12%GGBFS	14.11	116.97	59.66
SG12-132	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+12%GGBFS	13.64	120.17	46.63
SG12-133	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+12%GGBFS	14.1	117.57	56.55

	Specimen	Soil Type	w (%)	gd	UCS
	No.			(pcf)	(psi)
Soaked	KG-S1	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+8%GGBFS	NA*	NA	NA
Soaked	KG-S2	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+8%GGBFS	NA	NA	NA
Soaked	KG-S3	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+8%GGBFS	NA	NA	NA

\*Specimens fell apart before testing.

#### Test Soil 2.

Specimen	Soil Type	w (%)	rd (pcf)	UCS
No.				(psi)
B21-1	50% B, 50%S, 20,000 ppm gypsum	20.93	100.27	53.28
B21-2	50% B, 50%S, 20,000 ppm gypsum	20.28	100.11	43.01
B21-3	50% B, 50%S, 20,000 ppm gypsum	20.39	102.06	47.49
B23-1	50% B, 50%S, 20,000 ppm gypsum	21.9	103.05	38.63
B23-2	50% B, 50%S, 20,000 ppm gypsum	21.81	103.21	33.57
B23-3	50% B, 50%S, 20,000 ppm gypsum	22.46	103.26	38.1
B25-1	50% B, 50%S, 20,000 ppm gypsum	25.08	97.57	40.07
B25-2	50% B, 50%S, 20,000 ppm gypsum	24.42	97.88	38.14
B25-3	50% B, 50%S, 20,000 ppm gypsum	24.26	99.49	36.4
BG6-211	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (6%)	20.79	101.55	77.99
BG6-212	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (6%)	20.38	100.79	69.64
BG6-213	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (6%)	20.89	99.74	64.01
BG6-231	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (6%)	22.52	102.36	89.09
BG6-232	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (6%)	22.45	101.33	79.71
BG6-233	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (6%)	22.69	101.41	86.22
BG6-251	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (6%)	24.57	99.17	66.14
BG6-252	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (6%)	24.75	101.06	74.02
BG6-253	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (6%)	24.53	99.54	70.7
BG8-211	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (8%)	21.6	101.49	92.83
BG8-212	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (8%)	21.76	99.99	107.24
BG8-213	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (8%)	21.7	99.98	97.65
BG8-231	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (8%)	23.67	99.4	96.22
BG8-232	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (8%)	23.54	99.85	89.14
BG8-233	50% B, 50% S, 20,000ppmSulf + GGBFS (8%)	23.32	100.95	90.97
BG8-251	50% B, 50% S, 20,000ppmSulf + GGBFS (8%)	25.01	100.37	66.09

BG8-252	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (8%)	24.74	98.12	57.2
BG8-253	50% B, 50% S, 20,000ppmSulf + GGBFS (8%)	25.04	98.94	64.99
BG12-211	50% B, 50%S, 20,000ppmSulf + GGBFS (12%)	20.38	102.21	105.57
BG12-212	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (12%)	20.76	102.03	95.89
BG12-213	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (12%)	20.38	102.73	91.05
BG12-231	50% B, 50% S, 20,000 ppmSulf + GGBFS (12%)	22.58	102.05	106.86
BG12-232	50% B, 50%S, 20,000ppmSulf + GGBFS (12%)	22.41	101.61	102.48
BG12-233	50% B, 50%S, 20,000ppmSulf + GGBFS (12%)	22.63	102.45	89.28
BG12-251	50% B, 50%S, 20,000ppmSulf + GGBFS (12%)	24.71	99.34	73.19
BG12-252	50% B, 50%S, 20,000ppmSulf + GGBFS (12%)	24.63	100.49	67.91
BG12-253	50% B, 50%S, 20,000ppmSulf + GGBFS (12%)	24.96	97.94	63.96

	Specimen	Soil Type	w (%)	Ŷď	UCS
	No.			(pcf)	(psi)
Soaked	BG-S1	50% bentonite, 50% sand, 20,000 ppm	27.59	95.53	19.67
		gypsum + GGBFS (8%)			
Soaked	BG-S2	50% bentonite, 50% sand, 20,000 ppm	27.16	95.96	9.45
		gypsum + GGBFS (8%)			
Soaked	BG-S3	50% bentonite, 50% sand, 20,000 ppm	NA*	NA	NA
		gypsum + GGBFS (8%)			

\* Specimens fell apart before testing.

#### Appendix B. Unconfined compression tests for Test Soils treated with GGBFS.

#### Test Soil 1.

	Specime	Soil Type	w (%)	rd (pcf)	UCS
	n No.				(psi)
Unsoaked	KL-U1	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+4%Lime	13.12	113.43	67.94
Unsoaked	KL-U2	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+4%Lime	13.43	109.08	75.31
Unsoaked	KL-U3	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+4%Lime	13.7	107.66	66.75
	Specime	Soil Type	w (%)	Yd (pcf)	UCS
	n No.				(psi)
Soaked	KL-S1	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+4%Lime	NA*	NA	NA
Soaked	KL-S2	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+4%Lime	NA	NA	NA
Soaked	KL-S3	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+4%Lime	NA	NA	NA

\* Specimens fell apart before testing.

Test Soil 2.

	Specimen	Soil Type			
	No.				
Unsoaked	BL-U1	50% bentonite, 50% sand, 20,000 ppm			
		gypsum+Lime (6%)			
Unsoaked	BL-U2	50% bentonite, 50% sand, 20,000 ppm	27.17	89.34	64.05
		gypsum+Lime (6%)			
Unsoaked	BL-U3	50% bentonite, 50% sand, 20,000 ppm	26.29	92.05	72.48
		gypsum+Lime (6%)			
	Specimen	Soil Type			
	No.				
Soaked	BL-S1	50% bentonite, 50% sand, 20,000 ppm	31.76	90.14	28.75
		gypsum+Lime (6%)			
Soaked	BL-S2	50% bentonite, 50% sand, 20,000 ppm	32.59	85.02	28.05
		gypsum+Lime (6%)			
Soaked	BL-S2	50% bentonite, 50% sand, 20,000 ppm	33.21	87.23	31.45
		gypsum+Lime (6%)			
Soaked	BL-S2	50% bentonite, 50% sand, 20,000 ppm	33.83	86.28	26.26
		gypsum+Lime (6%)			

# Appendix C. Unconfined compression tests for Test Soils treated with GGBFS and lime, GGBFS and PC, and GGBFS and SC.

#### Test Soil 1.

	Specim	Soil Type	w (%)	Yd (pcf)	UCS
	en No.			_	(psi)
Unsoak	KLG-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	13.16	112.36	282.12
ed	U1	GBFS+1%Lime			
Unsoak	KLG-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	13.17	112.02	256.3
ed	U2	GBFS+1%Lime			
Unsoak	KLG-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	13.26	110.7	255.33
ed	U3	GBFS+1%Lime			
	Specim	Soil Type	w (%)	rd (pcf)	UCS
	en No.				(psi)
Soaked	KLG-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	20.5	103.82	77.37
	<b>S</b> 1	GBFS+1%Lime			
Soaked	KLG-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	18.22	107.85	83.64
	<b>S</b> 2	GBFS+1%Lime			
Soaked	KLG-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	18.77	106.75	66.39
	<b>S</b> 3	GBFS+1%Lime			
	Specim	Soil Type	w (%)	Yd (pcf)	UCS
	en No.			_	(psi)

Soaked	0.5KLG	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	15.46	111.88	200.99
	-S1	GBFS+0.5%Lime			
Soaked	0.5KLG	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	16.07	111.48	204.92
	-S2	GBFS+0.5%Lime			
Soaked	0.5KLG	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G			
	-S3	GBFS+0.5%Lime			
	Specim	Soil Type	w (%)	Yd (pcf)	UCS
	en No.				(psi)
Unsoak	0.5KLG	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	11.32	110.27	248.27
ed	-U1	GBFS+0.5%Lime			
Unsoak	0.5KLG	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	11.22	111.4	308.14
ed	-U2	GBFS+0.5%Lime			
Unsoak	0.5KLG	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	11.18	113.63	348.81
ed	-U3	GBFS+0.5%Lime			
	Specim	Soil Type	w (%)	rd (pcf)	UCS
	en No.				(psi)
Unsoak	KPC-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	10.96	154.06	482.49
ed	U0	GBFS+1%PC			
Unsoak	KPC-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	11.92	115.37	50.73
ed	U1	GBFS+1%PC			
Unsoak	KPC-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	11.81	113.37	77.29
ed	U2	GBFS+1%PC			
Unsoak	KPC-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	11.61	113.93	76.26
ed	U3	GBFS+1%PC			
	Specim	Soil Type	w (%)	Yd (pcf)	UCS
	en No.	• •		· ·	(psi)
Unsoak	KSG-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	11.2	116.82	87.73
ed	U1	GBFS+1%SC			
Unsoak	KSG-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	11.26	113.4	80.7
ed	U2	GBFS+1%SC			
Unsoak	KSG-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	11.44	113.86	73.56
ed	U3	GBFS+1%SC			
	Specim	Soil Type	w (%)	Yd (pcf)	UCS
	en No.				(psi)
Unsoak	KSG-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	10.95	118.21	92.47
ed	U1	GBFS+3%SC			
Unsoak	KSG-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	11.27	112.53	53.23
ed	U2	GBFS+3%SC			
Unsoak	KSG-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	11.41	114.87	71.27
ed	U3	GBFS+3%SC			
	Specim	Soil Type	w (%)	rd (pcf)	UCS
	en No.			_	(psi)
Unsoak	KSG-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	10.82	117.24	384.62
ed	U1	GBFS+3%PC			
Unsoak	KSG-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	11.11	115.82	376.91
ed	U2	GBFS+3%PC			

Unsoak	KSG-	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+7%G	11.12	116.44	389.56
ed	U3	GBFS+3%PC			
	Specim	Soil Type	w (%)	Yd (pcf)	UCS
	en No.				(psi)
Unsoak	TPC1	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+3%PC	11.16	119.94	201.61
ed					
Unsoak	TPC2	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+3%PC	11.28	114.54	132.6
ed					
Unsoak	TPC3	50%K+50%S+20,000ppmSulf+3%PC	11.19	118.4	152.31
ed					

# Appendix D. Response to wetting tests for Test Soils 1 and 2 untreated and treated.

Test Soil	1	Test Soil 1 + 8% G	GBFS	Test Soil 1 + 4% Lime	
time[min]	ε%	time [min]	ε%	time [min]	ε%
0.5	0.29	0.5	0.08	0.5	0
1	0.31	1	0.14	1	0.02
2	0.35	2	0.22	2	0.06
4	0.45	4	0.39	4	0.23
8	0.62	8	0.68	8	0.38
15	0.89	15	1.03	15	0.71
30	1.45	30	1.39	30	0.83
60	2.3	60	1.87	60	0.93
120	2.76	120	1.9	120	1.09
180	2.98	1440	1.9	180	1.24
1260	3.23	1860	1.91	1440	3.07
2880	3.26	2880	1.91	2880	3.89
4320	3.28	4320	1.91	4320	4.47
5760	3.29	5760	1.91	5760	4.95
		7200	1.91	7200	5.43
		8640	1.91	8640	5.88
				10080	6.32

Test Soil 1 + 0.5% Lime + 7%		Test soil $1 + 1\%$	Lime +	Test Soil 1 + 3% PC	
GGBFS	GGBFS		7% GGBFS		
time [min]	е %	time[min]	ε%	time [min]	ε%
0.02	0	0.5	0.12	0.08	0
0.08	0	1	0.2	0.17	0
0.17	0.04	2	0.31	0.5	0.04
0.5	0.08	4	0.51	1	0.08
1	0.16	8	0.91	3	0.08
3	0.35	15	1.18	8.33	0.12
8.33	0.75	30	1.38	16.67	0.16
16.67	1.18	60	1.5	30	0.16
30	1.54	120	1.69	60	0.16
60	1.81	180	1.81	90	0.16
90	2.01	1440	2.87	120	0.2
120	2.17	2880	3.46	120.08	0.2
150	2.36	4320	3.62	120.17	0.2
180	2.52	5760	3.74	120.5	0.2
240	2.8	7200	3.82	121	0.2
300	3.03	8640	3.9	123	0.2
360	3.23	10080	4.02	128.33	0.2
420	3.43			136.67	0.2
480	3.62			150	0.24
540	3.78			180	0.24
600	3.94			210	0.24
660	4.09			240	0.28
780	4.37			270	0.28
900	4.65			300	0.28
1020	4.92			360	0.31
1247.63	5.39			420	0.31
1260	5.39			480	0.35
1380	5.59			540	0.35
1500	5.71			600	0.39
1560	5.79			660	0.39
1620	5.83			720	0.43
1680	5.91			780	0.43
1740	5.94			900	0.47
1800	5.98			1020	0.51
2880	6.3			1140	0.51
4320	6.42			1260	0.55

5760	6.42	1380	0.55
7200	6.46	1500	0.59
8640	6.46	1620	0.59
10115.32	6.46	1680	0.59
11520	6.46	1740	0.59
		1800	0.59
		1860	0.63
		1920	0.63
		3000	0.71
		4440	0.79
		5880	0.83
		7320	0.87
		8760	0.91
		10200	0.94
		11640	0.98
		23160	1.3

Test Soil + 1% PC + 7%		Test Soil 1 + 3% PC + 7%		Test Soil 2	
GGBFS		GGBFS			
time [min]	ε%	time [min]	ε%	time[min]	ε%
0.08	0	0.08	0	0.5	0.02
0.17	0	0.17	0	1	0.02
0.5	0	0.5	0.05	2	0.03
1	0	1	0.05	4	0.04
3	0	3	0.1	8	0.06
8.33	0	8.33	0.1	15	0.1
16.67	0.04	16.67	0.16	30	0.18
30	0.04	30	0.16	60	0.32
60	0.04	60	0.16	120	0.51
90	0.04	90	0.16	1440	3.39
120	0.08	120	0.16	3600	5.21
150	0.08	150	0.21	3780	5.29
180	0.08	180	0.21	4320	5.39
240	0.08	240	0.21	5400	5.78
300	0.08	300	0.26	5520	5.84
360	0.08	360	0.31	5880	5.93
420	0.08	420	0.42	6480	5.96
480	0.08	480	0.47	6900	6.13

540	0.08	540	0.52	7920	6.39
600	0.08	600	0.63	8220	6.48
660	0.08	660	0.68	9180	6.58
780	0.08	780	0.78		
900	0.08	900	0.89		
1020	0.08	1020	0.99		
1140	0.08	1140	1.05		
1260	0.08	1260	1.1		
1380	0.08	1380	1.15		
1500	0.12	1500	1.15		
1560	0.12	1560	1.2		
1620	0.12	1620	1.2		
1680	0.12	1680	1.2		
1740	0.12	1740	1.25		
1800	0.12	1800	1.25		
2880	0.2	2880	1.41		
4320	0.39	4320	1.52		
5760	0.51	5760	1.57		
7200	0.55	7200	1.62		
8640	0.55	8640	1.62		
10080	0.59	10080	1.62		
11520	0.59	11520	1.62		
		23040	1.73		

Test Soil 2 + 8% GGBFS		Test Soil 2 + 6% Lime		Test Soil 2 + 0.5% Lime +	
				7% GGBFS	
time [min]	ε%	time [min]	ε%	time [min]	ε%
0.5	-0.02	0.5	0	0.08	0.04
1	0.02	1	0.01	0.17	0.04
2	0.02	2	0.02	0.5	0.08
4	0.02	4	0.04	1	0.12
8	0.02	8	0.06	3	0.2
15	0.03	15	0.09	8.33	0.28
30	0.06	30	0.11	16.67	0.39
60	0.13	60	0.16	30	0.51
120	0.24	240	0.18	60	0.79
240	0.29	960	0.18	90	0.94
1200	0.35	1440	0.19	120	1.06

1440	0.35	2880	0.24	150	1.18
2880	0.35	4320	0.33	180	1.22
4320	0.35	5760	0.47	240	1.26
5760	0.35	7200	0.53	300	1.3
7200	0.35	8640	0.64	360	1.3
8640	0.35	10080	0.77	420	1.3
10080	0.35	11520	0.87	480	1.3
		12960	0.98	540	1.3
		14400	1.08	2730.3	1.3
		15840	1.08	2880	1.3
		17280	1.15	4320	1.3
		18720	1.2	6044.52	1.3
		20160	1.31	7200	1.34
		21600	1.4	8640	1.34
		23040	1.52	10303.02	1.42
		24480	1.67		
		25920	1.8		
		27360	1.87		

Test Soil 2 + 1% Lime + 7%		Test Soil 2 + 3% PC		Test Soil 2 + 1% PC + 7%	
GGBFS				GGBFS	-
time[min]	ε%	time [min]	ε%	time [min]	ε%
0.5	0	0.02	0	0.02	0
1	0	0.02	0	0.03	0
2	0	0.08	0	0.05	0
4	0	0.17	0	0.07	0
8	0.01	0.5	0	0.07	0
15	0.02	1	0	0.08	0
30	0.03	3	0	0.17	0
60	0.04	8.33	0	0.5	0
120	0.07	16.67	0	1	0
1440	0.14	30	0.05	3	0
4320	0.16	60	0.11	8.33	0
5760	0.18	90	0.11	16.67	0
7200	0.2	120	0.11	30	0.04
8640	0.21	150	0.11	60	0.04
10080	0.23	180	0.11	90	0.04
11520	0.23	240	0.11	120	0.04

12960	0.23	300	0.11	150	0.08
14400	0.23	360	0.16	180	0.08
15840	0.23	420	0.16	240	0.08
17280	0.23	480	0.16	300	0.08
18720	0.23	540	0.16	360	0.08
20160	0.23	600	0.16	420	0.08
21600	0.23	660	0.16	480	0.08
23040	0.23	780	0.16	540	0.08
		900	0.16	600	0.08
		1020	0.16	660	0.08
		1140	0.16	780	0.12
		1260	0.16	900	0.08
		1380	0.16	1,020.00	0.12
		1500	0.16	1,140.00	0.08
		1560	0.16	1,260.00	0.08
		1620	0.16	1,380.00	0.12
		1680	0.16	1,500.00	0.12
		1740	0.16	1,560.00	0.12
		1800	0.16	1,620.00	0.12
		2880	0.16	1,680.00	0.08
		4320	0.26	1,740.00	0.08
		5760	0.37	1,800.00	0.08
		7200	0.48	2880	0.08
		8640	0.64	4320	0.08
		14181.55	1.11	5760	0.08
		14181.55	1.11	7200	0.16
		23040	1.8	8640	0.39
				10080	0.83

#### Test Soil 2 + 3% PC + 7% GGBFS

Test Soil 2 + 3% PC + 7% GGBFS						
time [min]	ε %	time [min]	ε %			
0.02	0	300	0.11			
0.03	0	360	0.11			
0.08	0	420	0.11			
0.17	0	480	0.11			
0.5	0	540	0.11			
1	0	600	0.11			
3	0	660	0.11			
8.33	0.05	780	0.11			
16.67	0.05	900	0.11			
30	0.05	1,020.00	0.11			
60	0.05	1,140.00	0.11			
90	0.05	1,260.00	0.11			
120	0.05	1,380.00	0.11			
150	0.05	1,500.00	0.11			
180	0.05	1,560.00	0.11			
240	0.11	1,620.00	0.11			
		1,680.00	0.11			
		1,740.00	0.11			
		1,800.00	0.11			
		2,880.00	0.26			
		4,320.00	0.48			
		5,760.00	0.74			
		7,200.00	1.01			
		8,640.00	1.27			
		14,198.38	2.07			
		14,198.38	2.07			
		23,040.00	3.02			

## Appendix E. Grain Size Distribution

Test Soil 1		Test Soil 2			
Sieves	D(mm)	% passing	Sieves	D(mm)	% passing
4	4.75	100	4	4.75	100
10	2	100	10	2	100
40	0.425	100	40	0.425	100
200	0.075	54.52	200	0.075	54.52
	0.06	54.52		0.031	45.43
	0.043	52.7		0.02	43.61
	0.03	52.7		0.011	43.61
	0.022	50.88		0.008	41.8
	0.015	50.88		0.006	41.8
	0.011	49.06		0.003	41.8
	0.008	47.25		0.001	41.8
	0.006	45.43			
	0.004	43.61			
	0.003	41.8			
	0.001	36.34			

# Appendix F. pH Results

Test Soil 1	Test Soil 2		
Туре	pH	Туре	PH
TS1	7.36	TS2	8.65
TS1 + 8% GGBFS	8.82	TS2 + 8% GGBFS	10.2
TS1 + 4% Lime	12.05	TS2 + 6% Lime	12.11
TS1 + 7% GGBFS + 0.5% Lime	11.99	TS2 + 7% GGBFS + 0.5% Lime	11.86
TS1 + 7% GGBFS + 1% Lime	12.01	TS2 + 7% GGBFS + 1% Lime	12.05
TS1 + 7% GGBFS + 1%PC	8.66	TS2 + 7% GGBFS + 1%PC	9.5
TS1 + 7% GGBFS + 3% PC	10.21	TS2 + 7% GGBFS + 3% PC	10.21
TS1 + 7% GGBFS + 1% SC	8.13	TS2 + 7% GGBFS + 1% SC	9.59
TS1 +7%GGBFS + 3%SC	9.9	TS2 +7%GGBFS + 3%SC	10.47
Lime	12.63	Lime	12.63
GGBFS	10.14	GGBFS	10.14
Portland Cement (PC)	11	Portland Cement (PC)	11
Sodium Carbonate (SC)	11.74	Sodium Carbonate (SC)	11.74

Туре	SL	Туре	LS%
Test Soil 1	9.2	Test Soil 1	5.9
Test Soil 1 + GGBFS (8%)	1.3	Test Soil 1 + GGBFS (8%)	5
Test Soil 1 + Lime (0.5%) + GGBFS	2	Test Soil 1 + Lime (0.5%) + GGBFS	8.9
(7%)		(7%)	
Test Soil 1 + Lime (1%) + GGBFS	2.2	Test Soil 1 + Lime (1%) + GGBFS	9.7
(7%)		(7%)	
Test Soil $1 + PC(1\%) + GGBFS$	2.14	Test Soil $1 + PC(1\%) + GGBFS$	6
(7%)		(7%)	
Test Soil 2	18	Test Soil 2	16
Test Soil 2 + GGBFS (8%)	6.4	Test Soil 2 + GGBFS (8%)	19.7
Test Soil $2 + \text{Lime}(0.5\%) + \text{GGBFS}$	5.2	Test Soil $2 + \text{Lime}(0.5\%) + \text{GGBFS}$	12.3
(7%)		(7%)	
Test Soil 2 + Lime (1%) + GGBFS	5.7	Test Soil 2 + Lime (1%) + GGBFS	9
(7%)		(7%)	
Test Soil $2 + PC(1\%) + GGBFS$	6	Test Soil $2 + PC(1\%) + GGBFS$	19.6
(7%)		(7%)	

Appendix G. Bar Linear Shrinkage Results